

CHAPTER 1

(HB 1)

AN ACT relating to the advancement of energy policy, science, technology, and innovation in the Commonwealth, making an appropriation therefor, and declaring an emergency.

Be it enacted by the General Assembly of the Commonwealth of Kentucky:

SECTION 1. SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS ESTABLISHED AND A NEW SECTION THEREOF IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

As used in this subchapter:

- (1) *"Activation date" means the date on which an approved company begins incurring recoverable costs or engaging in recoverable activity pursuant to the tax incentive agreement. The activation date shall be set forth in the tax incentive agreement and shall be a date within five (5) years of the date of final approval of the tax incentive agreement. The authority may extend the five (5) year period to no more than seven (7) years upon written application for an extension by the approved company. To implement the activation date, the approved company shall notify the authority of its intent to activate the tax incentives authorized in the tax incentive agreement. The activation date shall apply to all incentives included in the tax incentive agreement regardless of whether the approved company has met the requirements to receive all incentives at that time. If the approved company does not implement the activation date before the date established in the tax incentive agreement, the activation date shall be the date established in the tax incentive agreement;*
- (2) *"Affiliate" has the same meaning as in KRS 154.22-010;*
- (3)
 - (a) *"Alternative fuel facility" means a facility located in Kentucky that is newly constructed on or after the effective date of this Act, or an existing facility located in Kentucky that is retrofitted or upgraded on or after the effective date of this Act, and that, after the new construction, retrofit, or upgrade primarily produces for sale alternative transportation fuels. For a retrofit of an existing facility, the new modification or addition within the facility shall primarily produce alternative transportation fuel for sale.*
 - (b) *The alternative fuel facility may produce electricity as a by-product if the primary purpose for which the facility is constructed, retrofitted, or upgraded, and the primary function of the facility remains the production and sale of alternative transportation fuels;*
- (4) *"Alternative transportation fuels" has the same meaning as in Section 38 of this Act;*
- (5) *"Approved company" means a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, registered limited liability partnership, sole proprietorship, business trust, or any other entity approved for incentives for an eligible project;*
- (6) *"Authority" means the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority established by KRS 154.20-010;*
- (7) *"Base amount" means the tons of coal purchased and used or severed and used by the approved company as feedstock for an eligible project during the twelve (12) months prior to the month in which the approved company first begins receiving incentives under Sections 6 and 11 of this Act, that were subject to the tax imposed by KRS 143.020;*
- (8) *"Biomass resources" has the same meaning as in Section 38 of this Act;*
- (9)
 - (a) *"Capital investment" means:*
 1. *Obligations incurred for labor and to contractors, subcontractors, builders, and materialmen in connection with the acquisition, construction, installation, equipping, upgrading, or retrofitting of an eligible project;*
 2. *The cost of acquiring land or rights in land and any cost incident thereto, including recording fees;*
 3. *The cost of contract bonds and of insurance of all kinds that may be required or necessary during the course of acquisition, construction, installation, equipping, upgrading, or retrofitting of an eligible project which is not paid by the contractor or otherwise provided;*

4. *All costs of architectural and engineering services, including test borings, surveys, estimates, plans, specifications, preliminary investigations, supervision of construction, and the performance of all the duties required by or consequent upon the acquisition, construction, installation, equipping, upgrading, or retrofitting of an eligible project;*
 5. *All costs required to be paid under the terms of any contract for the acquisition, construction, installation, equipping, upgrading, or retrofitting of an eligible project; and*
 6. *All other costs of a nature comparable to those described in this subsection.*
- (b) *"Capital investment" does not include costs described in paragraph (a) of this subsection that are paid for with funds received from the federal government or that are reimbursed by the federal government;*
- (10) *"Carbon capture ready" means planning for or anticipating capture of carbon dioxide in a manner to facilitate continued operation of the facility in compliance with applicable federal requirements;*
- (11) *"Center for Applied Energy Research" means the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research;*
- (12) *"Commonwealth" means the Commonwealth of Kentucky;*
- (13) *"Construction period" means the period beginning with the activation date of the eligible project and ending on a date set forth in the tax incentive agreement, which shall be no later than five (5) years from the activation date;*
- (14) *"Department" means the Department of Revenue;*
- (15) *"Eligible project" means:*
- (a) *An alternative fuel facility or a gasification facility meeting the investment requirements of Section 2 of this Act; or*
 - (b) *A renewable energy facility meeting the investment requirements of Section 2 of this Act;*
- (16) *"Estimated labor component" means the projected percentage of the total capital investment attributable to labor;*
- (17) (a) *"Facility" means a single location within the Commonwealth at which machinery and equipment are used in a manufacturing process that transforms raw materials into a product with commercial value.*
1. *The facility shall include the physical plant structure where the manufacturing process occurs and machinery and equipment within the physical plant structure.*
 2. *The facility may include:*
 - a. *On-site machinery and equipment used exclusively for processing coal or other raw materials for use in the manufacturing process at the facility;*
 - b. *For an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility, on-site power station operations, if those operations are primarily used to produce electricity for the facility;*
 - c. *On-site refining operations, if those operations are used exclusively to refine and blend fuels produced by the facility; and*
 - d. *The in-state portion of a pipeline, including appurtenant facilities, property rights, and easements, if the exclusive purpose of the pipeline is to transport carbon dioxide from the facility to a point of sale, storage, or other carbon management applications.*
- (b) *"Facility" shall not include any mining operations;*
- (18) *"Gasification process" means a process that converts any carbon-containing material into a synthesis gas composed primarily of carbon monoxide and hydrogen;*
- (19) (a) *"Gasification facility" means a facility located in Kentucky that is newly constructed on or after the effective date of this Act, or an existing facility located in Kentucky that is retrofitted or upgraded on or after the effective date of this Act, and that, after the new construction, retrofit, or upgrade, primarily produces for sale:*

1. *Alternative transportation fuels;*
2. *Synthetic natural gas;*
3. *Chemicals;*
4. *Chemical feedstocks; or*
5. *Liquid fuels;*

from coal, waste coal, coal processing waste, or biomass resources, through a gasification process. For a retrofit of an existing facility, the new modification or addition within the facility shall primarily produce one (1) or more of the products set forth in this paragraph;

- (b) *The gasification facility may produce electricity as a by-product if the primary purpose for which the facility is constructed, retrofitted, or upgraded, and the primary function of the facility remains the production and sale of alternative transportation fuels, synthetic natural gas, chemicals, chemical feedstocks, or liquid fuels;*

(20) *"Kentucky gross profits" shall have the same meaning as in KRS 141.0401;*

(21) *"Kentucky gross receipts" shall have the same meaning as in KRS 141.0401;*

(22) *"Office" means the Governor's Office of Energy Policy created by Section 37 of this Act;*

(23) *"Post-construction incentives" means the incentives available under Sections 6 and 8 of this Act;*

(24) *"Renewable energy facility" means a facility located in Kentucky that is newly constructed on or after the effective date of this Act, or an existing facility located in Kentucky that is retrofitted or upgraded after the effective date of this Act, and that, after the new construction, retrofit, or upgrade, utilizes:*

(a) *Wind power, biomass resources, landfill methane gas, hydropower, or other similar renewable resources to generate electricity in excess of one (1) megawatt for sale to unrelated entities; or*

(b) *Solar power to generate electricity in excess of fifty (50) kilowatts for sale to unrelated entities.*

For a retrofit of an existing facility, the modification or addition shall primarily result in the production of electricity as described in paragraph (a) or (b) of this subsection;

(25) *"Resident" shall have the same meaning as in KRS 141.010;*

(26) *"Retrofit" means a modification or addition to an existing facility that results in the production of a new and different product or uses a new or different process to produce the same product at the facility. Modifications or additions to a facility that maintain, restore, mend, or repair a facility shall not be considered a retrofit of the facility, and shall not be considered part of the capital investment if undertaken at the same time as a retrofit;*

(27) *"Synthetic natural gas" has the same meaning as in Section 38 of this Act;*

(28) *"Tax incentive agreement" means an agreement entered into in accordance with Section 4 of this Act;*

(29) *"Termination date" means a date established by the tax incentive agreement that is no more than twenty-five (25) years from the activation date; and*

(30) *"Upgrade" means an investment in an existing facility that results in an increase in the productivity of the facility. Increased productivity shall be measured in relation to the type of products that are required to be produced by that facility to be an eligible project.*

SECTION 2. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

(1) *This subchapter shall be known as the "Incentives for Energy Independence Act."*

(2) *The General Assembly hereby finds and declares that it is in the best interest of the Commonwealth to induce the location of innovative energy-related businesses in the Commonwealth in order to advance the public purposes of achieving energy independence, creating new jobs and new investment, and creating new sources of tax revenues that but for the inducements to be offered by the authority to approved companies would not exist.*

- (3) *The purpose of this subchapter is to assist the Commonwealth in moving to the forefront of national efforts to achieve energy independence by reducing the Commonwealth's reliance on imported energy resources. The provisions of this subchapter seek to accomplish this purpose by providing incentives for companies that, in a carbon capture ready manner, construct, retrofit, or upgrade facilities for the purpose of:*
- (a) *Increasing the production and sale of alternative transportation fuels;*
 - (b) *Increasing the production and sale of synthetic natural gas, chemicals, chemical feedstocks, or liquid fuels, from coal, biomass resources, or waste coal through a gasification process; or*
 - (c) *Generating electricity for sale through alternative methods such as solar power, wind power, biomass resources, landfill methane gas, hydropower, or other similar renewable resources.*
- (4) *To qualify for the incentives provided in this subchapter, the following requirements shall be met:*
- (a) *For an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility that uses coal as the primary feedstock the minimum capital investment shall be one hundred million dollars (\$100,000,000);*
 - (b) *For an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility that uses biomass resources as the primary feedstock, the minimum capital investment shall be twenty-five million dollars (\$25,000,000); and*
 - (c) *For a renewable energy facility, the minimum capital investment shall be one million dollars (\$1,000,000).*
- (5) *The incentives under the Incentives for Energy Independence Act are as follows:*
- (a) *An advanced disbursement of post-construction incentives for which an approved company has been approved, the maximum amount of which is based upon the estimated labor component of the total capital investment of the eligible project, and the utilization of Kentucky residents during the construction period as set forth in Section 9 of this Act.*
 - (b) *Sales and use tax incentives of up to one hundred percent (100%) of the taxes paid on purchases of tangible personal property made to construct, retrofit, or upgrade an eligible project, as set forth in Sections 7 and 10 of this Act;*
 - (c) *Up to eighty percent (80%) of the severance taxes paid on the purchase or severance of coal that is subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020 and that is specifically used by an alternative fuel facility or a gasification facility as feedstock for an eligible project, as set forth in Sections 6 and 11 of this Act;*
 - (d) *Up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Kentucky income tax imposed under KRS 141.040 or 141.020, and the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401 on the income, Kentucky gross profits, or Kentucky gross receipts of the approved company generated by or arising from the eligible project, as set forth in Sections 8 and 12 of this Act; and*
 - (e) *Authorization for the approved company to impose a wage assessment of up to four percent (4%) of the gross wages of each employee subject to the Kentucky income tax:*
 - 1. *Whose job was created as a result of the eligible project;*
 - 2. *Who is employed by the approved company to work at the facility; and*
 - 3. *Who is on the payroll of the approved company or an affiliate of the approved company;**as set forth in Section 8 of this Act.*
- (6) *The maximum recovery from all incentives approved under this subchapter for an eligible project shall not exceed fifty percent (50%) of the capital investment in the eligible project.*
- (7) *The incentives available to an approved company shall be negotiated with and approved by the authority.*
- (8) *If a newly constructed facility that qualifies for incentives under this subchapter is later upgraded or retrofitted in a manner that would qualify for incentives under this subchapter, the retrofit or upgrade shall be a separate eligible project, and the minimum investment requirements and carbon capture readiness requirements if required, shall be met for the retrofit or upgrade to qualify for incentives under this subchapter.*
- (9) *The General Assembly finds that the authorities granted by this subchapter are proper governmental and public purposes for which public moneys may be expended.*

SECTION 3. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *A company with an eligible project may submit an application for incentives to the authority prior to making any capital investment it will seek to recover.*
- (2) *The application shall include:*
 - (a) *The name of the applicant and identification of any affiliates of the applicant;*
 - (b) *The type of eligible project;*
 - (c) *A description of the location;*
 - (d) *A full description of the eligible project scope, including but not limited to:*
 1. *A list and the status of permits, certificates, or approvals required by the federal government, the Commonwealth, or any jurisdiction within the Commonwealth;*
 2. *A description of the carbon capture readiness of the facility if the proposed eligible project is an alternative fuel facility or a gasification facility;*
 3. *Any feasibility studies, including supporting documents;*
 4. *Anticipated sources of eligible project funding;*
 5. *The total anticipated capital investment and the time period over which the capital investment will occur;*
 6. *The proposed feedstock and the estimated volume of feedstock use per year;*
 7. *A description of the proposed products to be produced by the facility, and the process that will be used to produce the products;*
 8. *The planned capacity of the facility after construction, retrofit, or upgrade;*
 9. *The estimated output of the facility upon completion; and*
 10. *A plan for and description of how the company will employ Kentucky residents at the facility, and how the company will ensure, to the extent possible, that workers employed during construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the facility are Kentucky residents. The plan shall include projected numbers;*
 - (e) *Identification of the specific incentives sought;*
 - (f) *Payment of any applicable application fees required by the authority to offset reasonable costs of reviewing and processing the application; and*
 - (g) *Other information as required by the authority.*
- (3) *The authority shall forward the application to the department and the office for review and comment with a date by which comments shall be provided back to the authority. The authority may forward the application to the Center for Applied Energy Research for review and comment as well.*
- (4) (a) *The authority shall review the application and shall verify that:*
 1. *The applicant has met all of the statutory and regulatory requirements established by this subchapter and regulations promulgated thereunder;*
 2. *The applicant has secured or is in the process of securing all necessary permits, certificates, or approvals required by the federal government, the Commonwealth, or any jurisdiction within the Commonwealth;*
 3. *The proposed facility is carbon capture ready, if the proposed facility is an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility;*
 4. *The company has a plan that includes a projected number of Kentucky residents that will be employed during the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the facility and at the facility upon completion; and*
 5. *Any other requirements established by the authority.*

- (b) *The department shall review the application and shall verify that the company seeking approval and all affiliate companies are in good standing with the department.*
- (c) *The authority may engage the services of outside consultants to assist in the review of the application. Costs associated with the engagement of outside consultants shall be borne by the applicant.*
- (5) (a) *Upon the earlier of:*
 - 1. *The receipt of comments and recommendations from the office, the department, and the Center for Applied Energy Research, if applicable; or*
 - 2. *The expiration of the time period established by the authority for receiving comments pursuant to subsection (3) of this section;*

the authority may, through the adoption of a resolution, preliminarily approve an applicant for incentives under this subchapter.
- (b) *Preliminary approval shall be based upon representations of the applicant in the application and attachments as well as other information submitted with the application. The authority shall make a finding that, based upon the applicant's representations, the project appears to be eligible for incentives pursuant to this subchapter.*
- (c) *Prior to final approval:*
 - 1. *The applicant shall:*
 - a. *Provide all supportive data requested by the authority;*
 - b. *Secure all required permits or take appropriate steps to do so; and*
 - c. *Cooperate with the authority to obtain opinions or recommendations from any outside consultants; and*
 - 2. *The authority shall, in consultation with the office or any other entity, verify the representations of the applicant.*
- (d) 1. *A preliminarily approved company seeking an advance disbursement employment incentive under Section 9 of this Act shall, prior to receiving final approval from the authority, provide to the authority a labor market analysis prepared by a public postsecondary education institution in the Commonwealth with knowledge of the labor market in the region in which the eligible project will be located.*
- 2. *The labor market analysis shall evaluate the construction market in the region where the proposed project is to be located and the estimated labor component of the proposed project. The public postsecondary education institution may consult with the Center for Applied Energy Research or the office in determining the types of laborers required for the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible facility.*
- 3. *The labor market analysis shall include an estimate of the percentage of the estimated labor component that constitutes wages to be paid to Kentucky residents.*
- (e) *Based upon all of the information available, the authority may, through adoption of a resolution, give its final approval and authorize the execution of a tax incentive agreement to be negotiated pursuant to the provisions of Section 4 of this Act.*
- (6) *The authority may request any materials and make any inquiries concerning an application that the authority deems necessary.*
- (7) *The actual capital investment that may be recovered and percentages of each incentive that an approved company may receive shall be negotiated between the approved company and the authority and shall not exceed the limitations established by Section 2 of this Act.*
- (8) *The General Assembly recognizes that the incentives offered under this subchapter include the possibility of the release of incentives to approved companies prior to construction completion, and that the release of these incentives may present more risk for the Commonwealth. The authority is directed to consider the possible increased risk to the Commonwealth when negotiating tax incentive agreements that include incentives prior to construction completion, and to incorporate repayment or similar remedy provisions in*

the tax incentive agreement to the extent the authority determines such provisions are necessary to protect the investment made by the Commonwealth if the approved company fails to comply with the terms of the tax incentive agreement.

- (9) *The authority and the approved company shall enter into a tax incentive agreement in accordance with Section 4 of this Act.*
- (10) *The authority, with input from the office and the department, shall establish additional standards and requirements for the application process through the promulgation of administrative regulations in accordance with KRS Chapter 13A. The standards shall include but not be limited to the creditworthiness of eligible companies and the likelihood of economic success of the economic development project.*

SECTION 4. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

The terms and conditions of the tax incentive agreement shall be negotiated between the authority and the approved company. The tax incentive agreement may include one (1) or more of the incentives available under this subchapter or any combination of the incentives as negotiated between the authority and the approved company. The tax incentive agreement shall include but not be limited to the following provisions:

- (1) *The duties and responsibilities of the parties;*
- (2) *The specific identification of incentives included in the tax incentive agreement, including the permissible percentage recovery under each included incentive;*
- (3) *A detailed description of the eligible project, including an estimate of the capital investment;*
- (4) *If the eligible project is an alternative fuel facility or a gasification facility, a requirement that the facility be carbon capture ready;*
- (5) *The minimum capital investment required and the maximum capital investment that may be recovered;*
- (6) *The time within which the minimum capital investment shall be made;*
- (7) *The activation date and the termination date. The agreement shall commence on the activation date and shall terminate upon the earlier of full receipt of the maximum amount of incentives by the approved company or twenty-five (25) years from the activation date;*
- (8) *A target percentage of the workforce that is Kentucky residents during the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the facility, and at the facility upon completion of construction;*
- (9) *If the wage assessment permitted by Section 8 of this Act is included, the percentage rate at which the assessment shall be imposed;*
- (10) *If the advanced disbursement employment incentive permitted by Section 9 of this Act is included:*
 - (a) *The estimated labor component and the estimated Kentucky resident factor as determined under Section 9 of this Act;*
 - (b) *A schedule for the disbursement of funds during the construction period;*
 - (c) *A provision that requires a reduction or adjustment in the receipt of post-construction incentives for which the approved company is eligible under the tax incentive agreement until the advance disbursement has been repaid by the approved company;*
 - (d) *A provision addressing an alternate payment method if the incentives are not sufficient to repay the advance disbursement; and*
 - (e) *A repayment schedule that includes the amount of reduction, the incentives the reduction shall apply to, the amount of interest due, the time period over which the advanced disbursement amount shall be recouped, and the amount that shall be recouped in each year. To the extent possible, the repayment schedule shall include uniform incremental payments;*
- (11) *That the approval of the company is not a guarantee of incentives and that actual receipt of the incentives shall be contingent on the approved company filing the required requests for incentives and meeting the requirements established by the tax incentive agreement and by the provisions of Sections 6, 7, 8, 9, 10, 11, and 12 of this Act that apply to the incentives included;*

- (12) *That the approved company shall provide the authority with documentation of capital expenditures in a manner acceptable to the authority;*
- (13) *Negotiated terms relating to repayment or similar remedies for incentives received prior to the completion of construction if the approved company fails to comply with the terms of the tax incentive agreement;*
- (14) *That, if the authority determines that the approved company has failed to comply with any of its obligations under the tax incentive agreement:*
 - (a) *The authority shall have the right to suspend the incentives available to the approved company;*
 - (b) *Both the authority and the department shall have the right to pursue any remedy provided under the tax incentive agreement;*
 - (c) *The authority may terminate the tax incentive agreement; and*
 - (d) *Both the authority and the department may pursue any other remedy at law to which it may be entitled;*
- (15) *A requirement that the authority monitor the tax incentive agreement;*
- (16) *A requirement that the approved company provide to the authority the information necessary to monitor the tax incentive agreement and authorization for the authority to share that information with the department, the office, or any other entity the authority determines is necessary for the purposes of monitoring and enforcing the terms of the tax incentive agreement; and*
- (17) *Any other provisions not inconsistent with this subchapter and determined to be necessary or appropriate by the parties to the tax incentive agreement.*

SECTION 5. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *The department may release to an approved company any sales tax incentives under Sections 7 and 10 of this Act after review of the request for incentives required by Section 10 of this Act and determination of the amount due regardless of whether the minimum capital investment has been made as required by the tax incentive agreement.*
- (2) *The authority shall monitor all tax incentive agreements. The authority may seek assistance from the office, the department, the Center for Applied Energy Research, or other entities or individuals in performing its monitoring functions.*
- (3) *The department shall track the amount of revenues released and incentives received for each eligible project under each tax incentive agreement, and shall provide the authority the information upon request.*
- (4) *On or before December 1, 2008, and every December 1 thereafter, the authority and the department shall jointly prepare a report for the Legislative Research Commission. The report shall include a list of all companies with which tax incentive agreements have been entered into and a summary of the terms of each agreement, including the type of facility approved, product to be produced, estimated output upon completion, required minimum capital investment and maximum recovery, incentives approved by type of tax and amount, activation date, and termination date.*

SECTION 6. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *Notwithstanding any other provision of KRS 134.580 or Chapter 143, an approved company that purchases or severs coal that:*
 - (a) *Is subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020; and*
 - (b) *Is used by the approved company exclusively as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility or a gasification facility;**may be eligible for an incentive in an amount up to eighty percent (80%) of the taxes paid pursuant to KRS 143.020 on coal purchased or severed by the approved company that is above the base amount.*
- (2) *An approved company that has purchased or severed coal subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020 prior to the execution of a tax incentive agreement shall not create an affiliate, subsidiary, corporation, or other related entity that would result in a base amount of zero (0).*

- (3) *The incentive may be requested beginning in the first calendar year after the construction of a new facility or the upgrade or retrofit of an existing facility is completed.*
- (4) *Upon completion of the construction of a new alternative fuel facility or gasification facility or the retrofit or upgrade of an existing facility, an approved company shall notify the authority and the department.*
- (5) *The approved company may obtain the incentive on an annual basis by filing a request for the incentive with the department as provided in Section 11 of this Act.*
- (6) *The department shall notify the authority of the incentives requested and the incentives distributed, upon request of the authority.*

SECTION 7. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *Notwithstanding KRS 134.580(3) and 139.770, on or after January 1, 2008, an approved company is eligible for an incentive in an amount up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Kentucky sales and use tax paid, reduced by the vendor compensation provided under KRS 139.570, on the purchase of tangible personal property, including but not limited to materials, machinery, and equipment used to construct, retrofit, or upgrade an eligible project.*
- (2) *The incentive shall not include tangible personal property purchased before the activation date, or purchases of operating supplies, or repair, replacement, or spare parts as defined in KRS 139.170.*
- (3) *Upon the activation date, an approved company may be eligible for the incentive offered under this section. The approved company shall file a request for the incentive payment with the department as provided in Section 10 of this Act.*
- (4) *The incentive provided in this section shall expire upon the completion of the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible project, or five (5) years from the activation date, whichever is earlier.*

SECTION 8. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

An approved company may be eligible for income tax-related incentives as follows:

- (1) *A credit of up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Kentucky income tax imposed under KRS 141.040 or 141.020, and the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401 that would otherwise be owed by the approved company to the Commonwealth for the approved company's tax year, on the income, Kentucky gross profits, or Kentucky gross receipts of the approved company generated by or arising from the eligible project, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205.*
 - (a) *The credit allowed the approved company shall be applied against both the income tax imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040, and the limited liability entity tax imposed by KRS 141.0401, with credit ordering as provided in KRS 141.0205, for the tax year for which the tax return of the approved company is filed.*
 - (b) *The approved company shall not be required to pay estimated tax payments as prescribed in KRS 141.042 on the Kentucky taxable income, Kentucky gross receipts, or Kentucky gross profits generated by or arising from the eligible project.*
 - (c) *The credit provided by this subsection shall be determined as provided in Section 12 of this Act.*
- (2) *The approved company or, with the authority's consent, an affiliate of the approved company may require that each employee subject to the state income tax imposed by KRS 141.020, as a condition of employment, agree to pay an assessment of up to four percent (4%) of his or her gross wages. The assessment shall be uniform against all employees against whom it is assessed and shall be imposed at a percentage rate that is negotiated as part of the tax incentive agreement.*
 - (a) *1. The assessment may be imposed against each employee:*
 - a. *Whose job was created as a result of the eligible project;*
 - b. *Who is employed by the approved company to work at the facility; and*
 - c. *Who is on the payroll of the approved company, or with the authority's consent, is on the payroll of an affiliate of the approved company.*

2. *Construction workers, employees of the approved company directly employed in the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible facility, contract workers, and leased workers shall not be considered employees of the approved company for purposes of the assessment permitted by this subsection.*
- (b) *Each employee so assessed shall be entitled to credits against Kentucky income tax equal to the assessment withheld from wages during the calendar year as provided by Sections 12 and 13 of this Act.*
- (c) *An approved company that elects to impose the assessment as a condition of employment is authorized to deduct the assessment from each paycheck of each employee.*
- (d) *The approved company shall provide to the authority the information necessary to monitor the tax incentive agreement and the authorization for the authority to share the information with the department as necessary for purposes of enforcing the terms of the tax incentive agreement.*
- (e) *Any assessment imposed pursuant to this subsection shall permanently expire upon termination or expiration of the tax incentive agreement.*

SECTION 9. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 27 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *An approved company may be eligible for the advance disbursement of a portion of the post-construction period incentives for which it has been approved. The amount of the advance disbursement shall be based on the employment of Kentucky residents during the construction of the facility, shall be negotiated with the authority as part of the tax incentive agreement, and shall not exceed the limitations established by this section.*
- (2) *The authority shall compute the maximum amount of the advance disbursement employment incentive as follows:*
 - (a) *The base amount shall equal the total capital investment specified in the tax incentive agreement multiplied by the labor intensity factor as determined in paragraph (c) of this subsection;*
 - (b) *The base amount shall then be multiplied by the Kentucky resident factor as determined in paragraph (d) of this subsection. The resulting amount shall be the maximum advance disbursement employment incentive that the authority may approve;*
 - (c) *The labor intensity factor shall be:*
 1. *Twenty-five percent (25%), if the estimated labor component for the eligible project is greater than thirty percent (30%) of the total capital investment;*
 2. *Twenty percent (20%), if the estimated labor component for the eligible project is greater than twenty-five percent (25%) but less than or equal to thirty percent (30%) of the total capital investment; or*
 3. *Fifteen percent (15%), if the estimated labor component for the eligible project is equal to or less than twenty-five percent (25%) of the total capital investment; and*
 - (d) *The Kentucky resident factor shall be four percent (4%) multiplied by a fraction, the numerator of which shall be the estimated total gross wages that will be paid to Kentucky residents who are working on the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible project, and the denominator of which shall be the estimated total gross wages that will be paid to all workers working on the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible project.*
- (3) *The tax incentive agreement shall include a schedule for the disbursement of the advance disbursement employment incentive during the construction period. In negotiating the disbursement schedule, the authority shall consider the possible increased risk to the Commonwealth associated with the disbursement of funds prior to construction completion.*
- (4) (a) *The approved company shall repay the advance disbursement through a reduction in the post-construction period incentive amounts it would otherwise receive. The amount by which the post-construction period incentive amounts are reduced shall be applied as a credit against the amount owed by the approved company.*

- (b) *The amount of the annual reduction, the incentives the reduction shall apply to, interest due, the time period over which the advanced disbursement amount shall be recouped, and alternate payment methods if incentives are not sufficient to repay the advance disbursement shall be negotiated between the authority and the approved company as part of the tax incentive agreement.*
 - (c) *The repayment schedule included in the tax incentive agreement shall require uniform incremental payments, to the extent possible, and shall continue until the entire advance disbursement amount has been repaid by the approved company.*
 - (d) *The tax incentive agreement shall include a provision addressing an alternate method for payment if incentives are not sufficient to repay the advance disbursement.*
 - (e) *The total post-construction incentive payments for which an approved company is eligible shall be tracked by the department. That portion of the incentive amounts identified in the tax incentive agreement as being devoted to the repayment of the advance disbursement amount shall be credited against the balance due from the approved company and shall not be paid to or retained by the approved company.*
 - (f) *The department shall forward the amounts credited to the repayment of the advance disbursement amount to the Cabinet for Economic Development, Department of Financial Incentives for deposit in the Energy Projects Economic Development Bond Pool.*
 - (g) *During the period for which any portion of the post-construction incentive payments are being credited toward the advance disbursement amount, the approved company shall, at the direction of the authority or the department, file all required requests for incentives, submit all required remittances, make all required tax payments, and provide to the department and the authority any information that would normally be required for the approved company to receive the incentives.*
- (5) *The authority may, for purposes of administering the provisions of this section, solicit information or consultation from one (1) or more of the following sources:*
- (a) *The office;*
 - (b) *The Center for Applied Energy Research;*
 - (c) *The Department for Workforce Investment; or*
 - (d) *Any public postsecondary education institution within the Commonwealth.*

SECTION 10. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 139 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *As used in this section:*
- (a) *"Approved company" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (b) *"Authority" means the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority established under KRS 154.20-010;*
 - (c) *"Eligible project" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (d) *"Tax incentive agreement" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act.*
- (2) *Notwithstanding any other provision of KRS 134.580 or this chapter, an approved company constructing, retrofitting, or upgrading an eligible project may be eligible for a sales tax incentive of up to one hundred percent (100%) of the Kentucky sales or use tax paid on tangible personal property purchased during the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible project as provided in Section 7 of this Act. The tangible personal property shall be incorporated into the eligible project to qualify for the sales tax incentive.*
- (3) *The authority shall notify the department upon approval of an eligible project. The notification shall include the name of the eligible project, the name of the approved company, and the date on which the approved company is eligible to receive incentives under this section.*
- (4) (a) *An approved company seeking an incentive under this section shall file a request for incentives within sixty (60) days following the end of the calendar year in which the activation date occurs. The request shall include all documentation relating to the payment of the sales and use tax.*
- (b) *In subsequent years, the approved company shall file a request for incentives within sixty (60) days following the end of each calendar year.*

- (c) *The approved company shall file a final request for incentives within sixty (60) days from the earlier of the completion of the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the eligible project, or the five (5) year anniversary of the activation date.*
- (d) *The request for incentives shall be in the form prescribed by the department through the promulgation of administrative regulations in accordance with KRS Chapter 13A.*
- (5) *Interest shall not be allowed or paid on any sales tax incentive payment made under the provisions of this section.*
- (6) *The sales tax incentive shall be reduced by the amount of vendor compensation allowed under KRS 139.570.*
- (7) *The approved company seeking the sales tax incentive payment shall execute information-sharing agreements prescribed by the department with contractors, vendors, and other related parties to verify the costs of tangible personal property eligible for the sales tax incentive payment under this section.*
- (8) *The department shall notify the authority of the incentive distributed to each approved company upon request.*

SECTION 11. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 143 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *As used in this section:*
 - (a) *"Alternative fuel facility" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (b) *"Approved company" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (c) *"Authority" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (d) *"Base amount" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (e) *"Capital investment" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (f) *"Eligible project" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (g) *"Gasification facility" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act; and*
 - (h) *"Tax incentive agreement" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act.*
- (2) *Notwithstanding any other provision of KRS 134.580 or this chapter, an approved company that purchases or severs coal that is subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020 and that is specifically used by the approved company as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility may be eligible for an incentive under Section 6 of this Act.*
- (3) *A company approved for incentives under Section 6 of this Act shall file a request for the incentive with the department within sixty (60) days of the completion of the construction, retrofit, or upgrade of the facility. In subsequent years, the approved company shall file a request for the incentive within sixty (60) days following the end of each calendar year. The request for incentives shall be in the form prescribed by the department through the promulgation of administrative regulations in accordance with KRS Chapter 13A. The request for incentives shall include but not be limited to the following information:*
 - (a) *Verification of the base amount;*
 - (b) *Verification of the tons of coal purchased and used or severed and used by the approved company as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility during the calendar year for which the request for incentives is being made;*
 - (c) *Verification that the minimum capital investment as set forth in the tax incentive agreement has been made;*
 - (d) *Verification of the output of coal-derived alternative transportation fuels, coal-derived synthetic natural gas, coal-derived liquid fuels, or other coal-derived chemicals or chemical feedstocks; and*
 - (e) *Any other information that the department may require.*
- (4) *To assist in determining the amount of coal purchased and used or severed and used that is eligible for the incentive, the department shall obtain from the Center for Applied Energy Research a reasonable and typical estimate of the tons of coal needed to produce a given output of coal-derived alternative*

transportation fuels, coal-derived synthetic natural gas, coal-derived liquid fuels, or other coal-derived chemicals or chemical feedstocks, considering:

- (a) *The type of coal to be used;*
 - (b) *Equipment to be employed;*
 - (c) *Size and output of the facility;*
 - (d) *Slate of products produced; and*
 - (e) *Other characteristics of the alternative fuel facility or gasification facility.*
- (5) (a) *The department and the authority shall review the request for incentives jointly and shall verify that the request for incentives meets all requirements established by statute and administrative regulation.*
- (b) *The department shall verify the tax paid pursuant to KRS 143.020 on the coal purchased or severed by the approved company and used as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility during the calendar year for which the application was submitted, and shall determine the amount of the tax paid that qualifies for distribution to the approved company pursuant to this section.*
- (c) *The incentive amount shall be distributed to the approved company in quarterly installments beginning on July 1 of the year following the calendar year for which the request for incentives required under this section was submitted.*
- (6) *The approved company seeking incentives shall execute information-sharing agreements prescribed by the department with vendors from which it purchased coal to verify the value of coal purchased by the approved company and used as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility or gasification facility and the amount of tax paid under KRS 143.020 on such coal.*
- (7) *The department shall notify the authority of the incentive distributed to each approved company upon request.*

SECTION 12. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 141 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *As used in this section:*
- (a) *"Approved company" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (b) *"Eligible project" has the same meaning as in Section 1 of this Act;*
 - (c) *"Kentucky gross receipts" has the same meaning as in KRS 141.0401;*
 - (d) *"Kentucky gross profits" has the same meaning as in KRS 141.0401; and*
 - (e) *"Tax credit" means the tax credit allowed in Section 8 of this Act.*
- (2) *An approved company shall compute the income tax credit as provided in this section.*
- (3) *An approved company which is an individual sole proprietorship subject to tax under KRS 141.020 or a corporation or pass-through entity treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes subject to tax under KRS 141.040(1) shall:*
- (a) 1. *Compute the tax due at the applicable tax rates as provided by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 on net income as defined by KRS 141.010(11) or taxable net income as defined by KRS 141.010(14), including income from the eligible project;*
 - 2. *Compute the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, including Kentucky gross profits or Kentucky gross receipts from the eligible project; and*
 - 3. *Add the amounts computed under subparagraphs 1. and 2. of this paragraph and, if applicable, subtract the credit permitted by KRS 141.0401(3) from that sum. The resulting amount shall be the net tax for purposes of this paragraph.*
 - (b) 1. *Compute the tax due at the applicable tax rates as provided by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 on net income as defined by KRS 141.010(11) or taxable net income as defined by KRS 141.010(14), excluding net income attributable to the eligible project;*

2. *Using the same method used under subparagraph 2. of paragraph (a) of this subsection, compute the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, excluding Kentucky gross profits or Kentucky gross receipts from the eligible project; and*
 3. *Add the amounts computed under subparagraphs 1. and 2. of this paragraph and, if applicable, subtract the credit permitted by KRS 141.0401(3) from that sum. The resulting amount shall be the net tax for purposes of this paragraph.*
- (c) *The tax credit shall be the amount by which the net tax computed under paragraph (a)3. of this subsection exceeds the tax computed under paragraph (b)3. of this subsection; however, the credit shall not exceed the limits set forth in Section 2 of this Act.*
- (4) (a) *Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, an approved company which is a pass-through entity not subject to the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 or trust not subject to the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 shall be subject to income tax on the net income attributable to an eligible project at the rates provided in KRS 141.020(2).*
- (b) *The amount of the tax credit shall be determined as provided in subsection (3) of this section. Upon the annual election of the approved company, in lieu of the tax credit, an amount shall be applied as an estimated tax payment equal to the tax computed in this section. Any estimated tax payment made pursuant to this paragraph shall be in satisfaction of the tax liability of the partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries of the pass-through entity or trust, and shall be paid on behalf of the partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries.*
- (c) *The tax credit or estimated payment shall not exceed the limits set forth in Section 2 of this Act.*
- (d) *If the tax computed in this section exceeds the tax credit, the difference shall be paid by the pass-through entity or trust at the times provided by KRS 141.160 for filing the returns.*
- (e) *Any estimated tax payment made by the pass-through entity or trust in satisfaction of the tax liability of partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries shall not be treated as taxable income subject to Kentucky income tax by the partner, member, shareholder, or beneficiary.*
- (5) *Notwithstanding any other provisions of this chapter, the net income subject to tax, tax credit, and estimated tax payment determined under subsection (4) of this section shall be excluded in determining each partner's, member's, shareholder's, or beneficiary's distributive share of net income or credit of a pass-through entity or trust.*
- (6) (a) *Net income attributable to the project for the purposes of subsections (3), (4), and (5) of this section shall be determined under the separate accounting method reflecting only the gross income, deductions, expenses, gains, and losses allowed under KRS Chapter 141 directly attributable to the facility and overhead expenses apportioned to the facility; and*
- (b) *Kentucky gross receipts or Kentucky gross profits attributable to the project for purposes of subsection (3) of this section shall be determined under the separate accounting method reflecting only the Kentucky gross receipts or Kentucky gross profits directly attributable to the facility.*
- (7) *If an approved company can show to the satisfaction of the department that the nature of the operations and activities of the approved company are such that it is not practical to use the separate accounting method to determine the net income, Kentucky gross receipts, or Kentucky gross profits from the facility at which the eligible project is located, the approved company shall determine net income, Kentucky gross receipts, or Kentucky gross profits from the eligible project using an alternative method approved by the department.*
- (8) *The department may promulgate administrative regulations and require the filing of forms designed by the department to reflect the intent of this section and Section 8 of this Act and the allowable income tax credit which an approved company may retain under this section and Section 8 of this Act.*

Section 13. KRS 141.310 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) Every employer making payment of wages on or after January 1, 1971, shall deduct and withhold upon the wages a tax determined under KRS 141.315 or by the tables authorized by KRS 141.370.
- (2) If wages are paid with respect to a period which is not a payroll period, the amount to be deducted and withheld shall be that applicable in the case of a miscellaneous payroll period containing a number of days,

including Sundays and holidays, equal to the number of days in the period with respect to which the wages are paid.

- (3) If wages are paid by an employer without regard to any payroll period or other period, the amount to be deducted and withheld shall be that applicable in the case of a miscellaneous payroll period containing a number of days equal to the number of days, including Sundays and holidays, which have elapsed since the date of the last payment of wages by the employer during the calendar year, or the date of commencement of employment with the employer during the year, or January 1 of the year, whichever is the later.
- (4) In determining the amount to be deducted and withheld under this section, the wages may, at the election of the employer, be computed to the nearest dollar.
- (5) The tables mentioned in subsection (1) of this section shall consider the standard deduction.
- (6) The department may permit the use of accounting machines to calculate the proper amount to be deducted from wages when the calculation produces substantially the same result as set forth in the tables authorized by KRS 141.370. Prior approval of the calculation shall be secured from the department at least thirty (30) days before the first payroll period for which it is to be used.
- (7) The department may, by administrative regulations, authorize employers:
 - (a) To estimate the wages which will be paid to any employee in any quarter of the calendar year;
 - (b) To determine the amount to be deducted and withheld upon each payment of wages to the employee during the quarter as if the appropriate average of the wages estimated constituted the actual wages paid; and
 - (c) To deduct and withhold upon any payment of wages to the employee during the quarter the amount necessary to adjust the amount actually deducted and withheld upon the wages of the employee during the quarter to the amount that would be required to be deducted and withheld during the quarter if the payroll period of the employee was quarterly.
- (8) The department may provide by regulation, under the conditions and to the extent it deems proper, for withholding in addition to that otherwise required under this section and KRS 141.315 in cases in which the employer and the employee agree to the additional withholding. The additional withholding shall for all purposes be considered tax required to be deducted and withheld under this chapter.
- (9) Effective January 1, 1992, any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax who assesses and withholds from employees the job assessment fee provided in KRS 154.24-110 may offset a portion of the fee against the Kentucky income tax required to be withheld from the employee under this section. The amount of the offset shall be four-fifths (4/5) of the amount of the assessment fee withheld from the employee or the Commonwealth's contribution of KRS 154.24-110(3) applies. If the provisions in KRS 154.24-150(3) or (4) apply, the offset, the offset shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the assessment.
- (10) Any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax who assesses and withholds from employees an assessment provided in KRS 154.22-070 or KRS 154.28-110 may offset the fee against the Kentucky income tax required to be withheld from the employee under this section.
- (11) Any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax who assesses and withholds from employees the job assessment fee provided in KRS 154.26-100 may offset a portion of the fee against the Kentucky income tax required to be withheld from the employee under this section. The amount of the offset shall be four-fifths (4/5) of the amount of the assessment fee withheld from the employee, or if the agreement under KRS 154.26-090(1)(f)2. is consummated, the offset shall be one hundred percent (100%) of the assessment fee.
- (12) Any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax who assesses and withholds from employees the job development assessment fee provided in KRS 154.23-055 may offset a portion of the fee against the Kentucky income tax required to be withheld from the employee under this section. The amount of the offset shall be equal to the Commonwealth's contribution as determined by KRS 154.23-055(1) to (3).
- (13) Any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax may be required to post a bond with the department. The bond shall be a corporate surety bond or cash. The amount of the bond shall be determined by the department, but shall not exceed fifty thousand dollars (\$50,000).

- (14) *Any employer required by this section to withhold Kentucky income tax who assesses and withholds from employees an assessment provided in Section 8 of this Act may offset the assessment against the Kentucky income tax required to be withheld from the employee under this section.*
- (15) The Commonwealth may bring an action for a restraining order or a temporary or permanent injunction to restrain or enjoin the operation of an employer's business until the bond is posted or the tax required to be withheld is paid or both. The action may be brought in the Franklin Circuit Court or in the Circuit Court having jurisdiction of the defendant.

Section 14. KRS 141.350 is amended to read as follows:

The amount deducted and withheld as tax under KRS 141.310 and 141.315 during any calendar year upon the wages of any individual and the amount of credit described in KRS 154.22-070(2), 154.23-055, 154.24-110, 154.24-150(3) and (4), 154.26-100(2), ~~or~~ 154.28-110, *or Section 8 of this Act* shall be allowed as a credit to the recipient of the income against the tax imposed by KRS 141.020, for taxable years beginning in the calendar year. If more than one (1) taxable year begins in the calendar year, the amount shall be allowed as a credit against the tax for the last taxable year so beginning.

Section 15. KRS 42.4582 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) There is hereby established in the State Treasury a fund entitled "Local Government Economic Development Fund." The fund may receive state appropriations, gifts, grants, and federal funds and shall be disbursed by the State Treasurer upon the warrant of the secretary of the Finance and Administration Cabinet. Any unallotted or unencumbered balances in the fund shall be invested as provided for in KRS 42.500(9). Income earned from the investments shall be prorated for grants to counties according to the allotment schedule set out in KRS 42.4592.
- (2) (a) Moneys shall be transferred from the general fund ~~in~~ *into this fund according to the following schedule:*
- (a) ~~Effective July 1, 1992, an amount equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the severance and processing taxes on coal collected annually;~~
- (b) ~~Effective July 1, 1993, an amount equal to eighteen percent (18%) of the severance and processing taxes on coal collected annually;~~
- (c) ~~Effective July 1, 1994, an amount equal to twenty five percent (25%) of the severance and processing taxes on coal collected annually; and~~
- (d) ~~Effective July 1, 1995, and thereafter,~~ an amount equal to fifty percent (50%) of the severance and processing taxes on coal collected annually, unless otherwise amended by the budget bill.
- (b) The transfers shall be made quarterly, based upon the revenue estimates prevailing at the time each quarterly transfer is due, except that the last quarterly transfer shall be made after the close of the fiscal year accounting records, and shall be adjusted to provide the balance of the annual transfer required by this subsection.
- (c) The quarterly calculation and transfer of funds pursuant to ~~subsection (2)(d) of~~ this section shall be made only after:
1. The quarterly installment of the annual nineteen million dollars (\$19,000,000) allocation of coal severance tax revenues has been credited to the benefit reserve fund within the Kentucky Workers' Compensation Funding Commission as required by KRS 342.122; *and*
 2. *The quarterly installment of the annual amount from the prior calendar year allowed as an incentive to an approved company under the provisions of Sections 6 and 11 of this Act.*

Section 16. KRS 42.4585 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) A portion of each quarterly transfer of moneys provided for in KRS 42.4582 shall be transferred from the local government economic development fund into the local government economic assistance fund ~~according to the following schedule:~~
- (a) ~~Effective July 1, 1992, an amount equal to eighty percent (80%) of each quarterly transfer;~~
- (b) ~~Effective July 1, 1993, an amount equal to sixty six and seven tenths percent (66.7%) of each quarterly transfer;~~

- ~~(c) Effective July 1, 1994, an amount equal to forty eight percent (48%) of each quarterly transfer; and~~
- ~~(d) Effective July 1, 1995, and thereafter, an amount equal to twenty four percent (24%) of each quarterly transfer.~~

~~The transfers shall be made quarterly].~~

- (2) The amount transferred annually from the local government economic development fund into the local government economic assistance fund under the provisions of subsection (1) of this section shall be not less than an amount equal to fifteen percent (15%) of the severance and processing taxes on coal collected annually.
- (3) The quarterly calculation and transfer of funds pursuant to subsections (1) and (2) of this section shall be made only after;
 - (a) The quarterly installment of the annual nineteen million dollars (\$19,000,000) allocation of coal severance tax revenues has been credited to the benefit reserve fund within the Kentucky Workers' Compensation Funding Commission as required by KRS 342.122; **and**
 - (b) *The quarterly installment of the annual amount from the prior calendar year allowed as an incentive to an approved company under the provisions of Sections 6 and 11 of this Act.*

SECTION 17. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 139 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *"Energy efficiency project" means a project undertaken by a person engaged in manufacturing whereby the person purchases new or replacement machinery or equipment that reduces the consumption of energy or energy-producing fuels in the manufacturing process at a plant facility in this state by at least fifteen percent (15%) measured in megawatts, gallons, or other measurable units of energy, while maintaining or increasing the number of units of production for that same period. For purposes of this section, "machinery or equipment" does not include:*
 - (a) *Windows, lighting, or other improvements to buildings; or*
 - (b) *Repair, replacement, and spare parts as defined in KRS 139.170.*
- (2) (a) *The consumption reduction and the production rate shall be calculated by comparing the consumption and production rates during a twelve (12) month period immediately after the new or replacement machinery or equipment is placed in service with the consumption and production rates for the twelve (12) month period submitted with the application for preapproval as required in subsection (4) of this section.*
 - (b) *If the manufacturer believes that the method described in paragraph (a) of this subsection does not accurately reflect the reduction in energy or energy-producing fuels used in the manufacturing process, the manufacturer may submit additional information to the department for consideration.*
- (3) *Notwithstanding KRS 134.580(3) and 139.770, a person engaged in manufacturing at a plant facility located in this state may apply for a refund equal to the amount of Kentucky sales or use tax paid on the purchase of new or replacement machinery or equipment for an energy efficiency project purchased on or after July 1, 2008, reduced by the amount of vendor compensation allowed under KRS 139.570.*
- (4) *The manufacturer shall file an application for preapproval with the department, on a form provided by the department, prior to purchasing the new or replacement machinery or equipment that includes:*
 - (a) *A description of the new or replacement machinery or equipment;*
 - (b) *Documentation of the amount of energy or energy-producing fuels consumed in the twelve (12) month period prior to the application for preapproval; and*
 - (c) *Any other information the department may request.*
- (5) *The department shall acknowledge receipt of the application for preapproval.*
- (6) *The manufacturer shall file an application for incentives that includes documentation of:*
 - (a) *The achievement of the energy-efficiency standards required by subsection (1) of this section within eighteen (18) months from the time the machinery or equipment was placed in service; and*

- (b) *Verification that the Kentucky sales and use tax was paid on the purchase of the new or replacement machinery or equipment.*
- (7) *The burden of proof that the purchase of the machinery or equipment resulted in a decrease in the consumption of energy or energy-producing fuels shall be upon the applicant.*
- (8) *Interest shall not be allowed or paid on any refund made under this section.*

Section 18. KRS 141.0405 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) There shall be allowed a nonrefundable credit against taxes imposed by the Commonwealth on any taxpayer that:
- (a) 1. Is an electric power company *subject to tax under* ~~[as defined in] KRS 136.120 [Chapter 136];~~ ~~[or]~~
 2. Is an entity that owns or operates a coal-fired electric generation plant; *or*
 3. *Is an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act that has not been approved for incentives under Subchapter 27 of KRS Chapter 154;*
 - (b) Remits tax to the Commonwealth under KRS 136.070, 136.120, 141.020, 141.040, or 141.0401; and
 - (c) Purchases coal subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020 that is used:
 1. ~~[by the taxpayer, or by a parent company if the taxpayer is a wholly owned subsidiary,]~~For the purpose of generating electricity; *or*
 2. *As feedstock for an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act;*

by the taxpayers, or by a parent company if the taxpayer is a wholly owned subsidiary.
- (2) The amount of the allowable credit shall be two dollars (\$2) per each incentive ton of coal purchased that is subject to tax under KRS 143.020 and that is used to generate electric power *or used as feedstock for an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act.*
- (3) (a) Incentive tons are calculated as the tons of coal purchased in the current year for which coal severance tax was paid minus the tons of coal purchased and used during the base year.
- (b) *For an existing electric power company subject to tax under KRS 136.120 that expands operations to include an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act, the incentive tons for the expanded operation calculated in paragraph (a) of this subsection shall not include any coal subject to the incentives provided under Sections 6 and 11 of this Act.*
- (4) The base year amount shall be equal to:
- (a) For entities existing on July 14, 2000, that meet the eligibility requirements imposed under subsection (1) of this section, the tons of coal purchased and used to generate electricity during the twelve (12) calendar months ending in December 31, 1999, that were subject to the tax imposed by KRS 143.020; *or*
 - (b) For entities that come into existence after July 14, 2000, that meet the eligibility requirements imposed under subsection (1) of this section, the base year amount shall be equal to zero (0). However, no company qualifying for the credit as of July 14, 2000, with a base year calculation as provided under subsection (4)(a) of this section may create an affiliate, subsidiary, or corporation that would qualify for a base year of zero (0).
- (5) On or before March 15 of each year, a company eligible for the credit provided under subsection (2) of this section shall file a coal incentive credit claim on forms prescribed by the department ~~[of Revenue]~~. At the time of filing for the credit, the taxpayer shall submit verification of the tons of coal purchased in the base year and the tons of coal purchased in the year for which the credit is being claimed. The department ~~[of Revenue]~~ shall determine the amount of the eligible credit and issue a credit certificate to the taxpayer.

- (6) The taxpayer shall be eligible to apply, subject to the conditions imposed under subsection (7) of this section, the amount identified on the credit certificate issued by the department ~~of Revenue~~ under subsection (5) of this section, against the taxpayer's liability for the taxes, in consecutive order as follows:
- (a) The credit shall first be applied against both the taxes imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205;
 - (b) The credit shall next be applied to the taxes imposed by KRS 136.070; and
 - (c) Any remaining credit shall be applied against the taxes imposed by KRS 136.120.
- (7) The credit shall meet the entirety of the taxpayer's liability under the first tax listed in consecutive order under subsection (6) of this section before applying the remaining credit to the next tax listed in consecutive order. The taxpayer's total liability under each preceding tax must be fully met before the remaining credit can be applied to the subsequent tax listed in consecutive order.
- (8) The taxpayer shall maintain records required in subsection (5) of this section for a period of five (5) years.
- (9) Acceptable verification of coal purchased during the base year shall include invoices that indicate the tons of coal purchased from a Kentucky supplier of coal and proof of remittance for that purchase.
- (10) The department ~~of Revenue~~ shall develop the forms required under subsection (5) of this section, specifying the procedure for claiming the credit, and applying the credit against the taxpayer's liability in the order provided under subsections (6) and (7) of this section.
- (11) *The Governor's Office of Energy Policy established by Section 37 of this Act shall:*
- (a) *1. Certify that an alternative fuel facility for which a credit is being requested meets the definition as provided in Section 1 of this Act; or*
 - 2. Certify that a gasification facility for which a credit is being requested meets the definition as provided in Section 1 of this Act; and*
 - (b) *Notify the department of the certification.*
- (12) *To assist in determining the amount of coal purchased and used that is eligible for the credit, the department shall obtain from the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research a reasonable and typical estimate of the tons of coal needed to produce a given output of coal-derived alternative transportation fuels, coal-derived synthetic natural gas, coal-derived liquid fuels, or other coal-derived chemicals or chemical feedstocks, considering:*
- (a) *The type of coal to be used;*
 - (b) *Equipment to be employed;*
 - (c) *Size and output of the facility;*
 - (d) *Slate of products produced; and*
 - (e) *Other characteristics of the alternative fuel facility or gasification facility.*

Section 19. KRS 141.0406 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) *Except in the case of an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act, or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act, the Coal Incentive Credit authorized under KRS 141.0405 shall be allowed for ten (10) consecutive years beginning on July 15, 2001.*
- (2) *In the case of an alternative fuel facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act or a gasification facility as defined in Section 1 of this Act, the Coal Incentive Credit authorized by Section 18 of this Act shall be allowed for tax periods beginning after December 31, 2008, and ending before January 1, 2021.*
- (3) Continuation of the credit authorized under this section shall require reauthorization by the General Assembly.

Section 20. KRS 141.422 is amended to read as follows:

As used in KRS 141.422 to 141.425:

- (1) "Annual biodiesel *and renewable diesel* tax credit cap" means:

- (a) *For calendar years beginning prior to January 1, 2008, one million five hundred thousand dollars (\$1,500,000);*
 - (b) *For the calendar year beginning on January 1, 2008, five million dollars (\$5,000,000); and*
 - (c) *For calendar years beginning on or after January 1, 2009, ten million dollars (\$10,000,000);*
- (2) *"Annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap" means five million dollars (\$5,000,000), unless the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap is modified pursuant to the provisions of Section 26 of this Act, in which case the cap established by Section 26 of this Act shall be the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap for that year. Any adjustments to the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap made pursuant to Section 26 of this Act shall be made on an annual basis and shall not carry forward to subsequent years;*
- (3) *"Annual ethanol tax credit cap" means five million dollars (\$5,000,000), unless the annual credit cap is modified pursuant to the provisions of Section 26 of this Act, in which case the cap established by Section 26 of this Act shall be the annual ethanol tax credit cap for that year. Any adjustments to the annual ethanol tax credit cap made pursuant to Section 26 of this Act shall be made on an annual basis and shall not carry forward to subsequent years;*
- (4) *"Biodiesel" means a renewable, biodegradable, mono alkyl ester combustible liquid that is derived from agriculture crops, agriculture plant oils, agriculture residues, ~~and~~ animal fats, or waste products that meets current American Society for Testing and Materials specification D6751~~(D6751-03)~~ for biodiesel fuel (B100) blend stock distillate fuels;"*
- (5)~~(3)~~ *"Biodiesel producer" means an entity~~[a business]~~ that manufactures~~[uses agricultural crops, agricultural residues, or waste products to manufacture]~~ biodiesel at a location in this Commonwealth;~~and]~~*
- (6) *"Cellulosic ethanol" means ethyl alcohol for use as motor fuel that meets the current American Society for Testing and Materials specification D4806 for ethanol that is produced from cellulosic biomass materials of any lignocellulosic or hemicellulosic matter that is available on a renewable or recurring basis, including:*
- (a) *Plant wastes from industrial processes such as sawdust and paper pulp;*
 - (b) *Energy crops grown specifically for fuel production such as switchgrass; or*
 - (c) *Agricultural plant residues such as corn stover, rice hulls, sugarcane, and cereal straws;*
- (7) *"Cellulosic ethanol producer" means an entity that uses cellulosic biomass materials to manufacture cellulosic ethanol at a location in this Commonwealth;*
- (8)~~(4)~~ *"Blended biodiesel" means a blend of biodiesel with petroleum diesel so that the percentage of biodiesel in the blend is at least two percent (2%) (B2 or greater);*
- (9) *"Ethanol" means ethyl alcohol produced from corn, soybeans, or wheat for use as a motor fuel that meets the current American Society for Testing and Materials specification D4806 for ethanol;*
- (10) *"Ethanol-based tax credits" means the cellulosic ethanol tax credit provided for in Section 23 of this Act and the ethanol tax credit provided for in Section 24 of this Act;*
- (11) *"Ethanol producer" means an entity that uses corn, soybeans, or wheat to manufacture ethanol at a location in this Commonwealth;*
- (12) *"Renewable diesel" means a renewable, biodegradable, non-ester combustible liquid that:*
- (a) *Is derived from biomass resources as defined in Section 38 of this Act: and*
 - (b) *Meets the current American Society for Testing and Materials Specification D396 for fuel oils intended for use in various types of fuel-oil-burning equipment; D975 for diesel fuel oils suitable for various types of diesel fuel engines; or D1655 for aviation turbine fuels; and*
- (13) *"Renewable diesel producer" means an entity that manufactures renewable diesel at a location in this Commonwealth.*

Section 21. KRS 141.423 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) (a) A biodiesel producer, *biodiesel blender, or renewable diesel producer*~~for a blender of blended biodiesel~~ shall be entitled to a nonrefundable tax credit against the taxes imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and KRS 141.0401 in an amount certified by the department under subsection (4) of this

section. The credit rate shall be one dollar (\$1) per biodiesel *gallon produced by a biodiesel producer, one dollar (\$1) per gallon of biodiesel used in the blending process by a biodiesel blender, and one dollar (\$1) per gallon of renewable diesel produced by a renewable diesel producer* ~~and blended biodiesel gallons~~ unless the total amount of approved credit for all biodiesel producers, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blenders, *and renewable diesel producers* exceeds the annual biodiesel *and renewable diesel* tax credit cap. If the total amount of approved credit for all biodiesel producers, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blenders, *and renewable diesel producers* exceeds the annual biodiesel *and renewable diesel* tax credit cap, the department shall determine the amount of credit each biodiesel producer, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blender, *and renewable diesel producer* receives by multiplying the annual biodiesel *and renewable diesel* tax credit cap by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of approved credit for the biodiesel producer, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blender, *and renewable diesel producer* and the denominator of which is the total approved credit for all biodiesel producers, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blenders, *and renewable diesel producers*.

(b) The credit allowed under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be applied both to the income tax imposed under KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and to the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205.

- (2) Re-blending of blended biodiesel shall not qualify for the credit provided under this section.
- (3) The credit shall not be carried forward to a return for any other period.
- (4) Each biodiesel producer, *biodiesel* ~~and~~ blender, *and renewable diesel producer* eligible for the credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall file a ~~biodiesel~~ tax credit claim for biodiesel gallons produced or blended in this state *or for renewable diesel produced in this state* on forms prescribed by the department by the fifteenth day of the first month following the close of the preceding calendar year. The department shall determine the amount of the approved credit based on the amount of biodiesel produced, *biodiesel* ~~or~~ blended, *or renewable diesel produced* in this state during the preceding calendar year and issue a credit certificate to the biodiesel producer, *biodiesel* ~~or~~ blender, *or renewable diesel producer* by the fifteenth day of the fourth month following the close of the calendar year.
- (5) In the case of a biodiesel producer, *biodiesel* ~~or~~ blender, *or renewable diesel producer* that has a fiscal year end for purposes of computing the tax imposed by KRS *141.020*, 141.040, *and 141.0401*, the amount of approved credit shall be claimed on the return filed for the first fiscal year ending after the close of the preceding calendar year.

Section 22. KRS 141.424 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) In the case of a biodiesel producer, *biodiesel blender, or renewable diesel producer* ~~for blender~~ which is a pass-through entity not subject to tax under KRS 141.040, the amount of approved credit shall be applied against the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 at the entity level, and shall also be distributed to each partner, member, shareholder, or beneficiary based on the partner's, member's, shareholder's, or beneficiary's distributive share of the income of the pass-through entity. Each biodiesel producer, *biodiesel blender, or renewable diesel producer* ~~for blender~~ shall notify the department electronically of all partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries who may claim any amount of the approved credit. Failure to provide information to the department in a manner prescribed by administrative regulation may constitute the forfeiture of available credits to all partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries in the pass-through entity.
- (2) *An agricultural cooperative association organized under KRS Chapter 272 may elect to apportion pro rata any amount of the approved credit among the members of the association on the basis of the quantity or value of business done with or for such members for the taxable year. The agricultural cooperative association shall notify the department electronically of all members who may claim any amount of the approved credit if the election is made.*

SECTION 23. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 141.422 TO 141.425 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) (a) *For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2007, a cellulosic ethanol producer shall be eligible for a nonrefundable tax credit against the taxes imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and 141.0401 in an amount certified by the department under subsection (3) of this section. The credit rate shall be one dollar (\$1) per cellulosic ethanol gallon produced unless the total amount of approved credit for all cellulosic ethanol producers exceeds the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap. If the total amount of approved credit for all cellulosic ethanol producers exceeds the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap, the department shall determine the amount of credit each cellulosic ethanol producer receives by multiplying the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap by a fraction, the numerator of*

which is the amount of approved credit for the cellulosic ethanol producer and the denominator of which is the total approved credit for all cellulosic ethanol producers.

- (b) *The credit allowed under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be applied both to the income tax imposed under KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and to the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, with the ordering of credits as provided in Section 27 of this Act.*
- (2) *The credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall not be carried forward to a return for any other period.*
- (3) *Each cellulosic ethanol producer eligible for the credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall file a cellulosic ethanol tax credit claim for cellulosic ethanol gallons produced in this state on forms prescribed by the department by January 15 following the close of the preceding calendar year. The department shall determine the amount of the approved credit based on the amount of cellulosic ethanol produced in this state during the preceding calendar year and shall issue a credit certificate to the cellulosic ethanol producer by April 15 following the close of the preceding calendar year.*
- (4) *In the case of a cellulosic ethanol producer that has a fiscal year end for purposes of computing the tax imposed by KRS 141.020, 141.040, and 141.0401, the amount of approved credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall be claimed on the return filed for the first fiscal year ending after the close of the preceding calendar year.*

SECTION 24. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 141.422 TO 141.425 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) (a) *For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2007, an ethanol producer shall be eligible for a nonrefundable tax credit against the taxes imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and 141.0401 in an amount certified by the department under subsection (3) of this section. The credit rate shall be one dollar (\$1) per ethanol gallon produced unless the total amount of approved credit for all ethanol producers exceeds the annual ethanol tax credit cap. If the total amount of approved credit for all ethanol producers exceeds the annual ethanol tax credit cap, the department shall determine the amount of credit each ethanol producer receives by multiplying the annual ethanol tax credit cap by a fraction, the numerator of which is the amount of approved credit for the ethanol producer and the denominator of which is the total approved credit for all ethanol producers.*
- (b) *The credit allowed under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be applied both to the income tax imposed under KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and to the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, with the ordering of credits as provided in Section 27 of this Act.*
- (2) *The credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall not be carried forward to a return for any other period.*
- (3) *Each ethanol producer eligible for the credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall file an ethanol tax credit claim for ethanol gallons produced in this state on forms prescribed by the department by January 15 following the close of the preceding calendar year. The department shall determine the amount of the approved credit based on the amount of ethanol produced in this state during the preceding calendar year and shall issue a credit certificate to the ethanol producer by April 15 following the close of the preceding calendar year.*
- (4) *In the case of an ethanol producer that has a fiscal year end for purposes of computing the tax imposed by KRS 141.020, 141.040, and 141.0401, the amount of approved credit provided under subsection (1) of this section shall be claimed on the return filed for the first fiscal year ending after the close of the preceding calendar year.*

SECTION 25. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 141.422 TO 141.425 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *An ethanol producer or a cellulosic ethanol producer that is a pass-through entity not subject to tax under KRS 141.040 shall apply the amount of approved credit against the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 at the entity level, and shall also distribute the amount of the approved credit to each partner, member, shareholder, or beneficiary based on the partner's, member's, shareholder's, or beneficiary's distributive share of the income of the pass-through entity.*
- (2) *Each ethanol producer or cellulosic ethanol producer shall notify the department electronically of all partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries who may claim any amount of the approved credit. Failure to provide information to the department in a manner prescribed by administrative regulation may*

result in the forfeiture of available credits to all partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries in the pass-through entity.

- (3) *An agricultural cooperative association organized under KRS Chapter 272 may elect to apportion pro rata any amount of the approved credit among the members of the association on the basis of the quantity or value of business done with or for such members for the taxable year. The agricultural cooperative association shall notify the department electronically of all members who may claim any amount of the approved credit if the election is made.*
- (4) *Failure to provide information to the department in a manner prescribed by administrative regulation may result in the forfeiture of available credits to all partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries in the pass-through entity or agricultural cooperative association.*

SECTION 26. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 141.422 TO 141.425 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) (a) *If, in any calendar year, all approved applications for credit filed pursuant to the provisions of Sections 23 and 24 of this Act do not completely use the annual cellulosic ethanol tax credit cap established by Section 23 of this Act or annual ethanol tax credit cap established by Section 24 of this Act, as the case may be; and*
 - (b) *The other ethanol-based tax credit program has total approved applications for credit that exceed the annual cap established for that program;*
- then the unused cap may be transferred to the other ethanol-based tax credit program.*
- (2) *The amount of credit cap transferred from one (1) program to the other shall not exceed the amount necessary for all approved applicants to receive the one dollar (\$1) per gallon credit provided for in Section 23 or 24 of this Act, as the case may be.*
 - (3) *Any unused cap remaining for any calendar year after both programs have been fully funded shall not be available to be used in any other year.*

Section 27. KRS 141.0205 is amended to read as follows:

If a taxpayer is entitled to more than one (1) of the tax credits allowed against the tax imposed by KRS 141.020, 141.040, and 141.0401, the priority of application and use of the credits shall be determined as follows:

- (1) The nonrefundable business incentive credits against the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 shall be taken in the following order:
 - (a) 1. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, and before January 1, 2007, the corporation income tax credit permitted by KRS 141.420(3)(a);
 - 2. For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2006, the limited liability entity tax credit permitted by KRS 141.0401;
 - (b) The economic development credits computed under KRS 141.347, 141.400, 141.401, 141.402, 141.403, 141.407, 141.415, ~~and~~ 154.12-2088, *and Section 8 of this Act*;
 - (c) The certified rehabilitation credit permitted by KRS 171.397;
 - (d) The health insurance credit permitted by KRS 141.062;
 - (e) The tax paid to other states credit permitted by KRS 141.070;
 - (f) The credit for hiring the unemployed permitted by KRS 141.065;
 - (g) The recycling or composting equipment credit permitted by KRS 141.390;
 - (h) The tax credit for cash contributions in investment funds permitted by KRS 154.20-263 in effect prior to July 15, 2002, and the credit permitted by KRS 154.20-258;
 - (i) The coal incentive credit permitted under KRS 141.0405;
 - (j) The research facilities credit permitted under KRS 141.395;
 - (k) The employer GED incentive credit permitted under KRS 151B.127;
 - (l) The voluntary environmental remediation credit permitted by KRS 141.418;

- (m) The biodiesel *and renewable diesel* credit permitted by KRS 141.423;
 - (n) The environmental stewardship credit permitted by KRS 154.48-025;~~and~~
 - (o) The clean coal incentive credit permitted by KRS 141.428;
 - (p) The ethanol credit permitted by Section 24 of this Act; and**
 - (q) The cellulosic ethanol credit permitted by Section 23 of this Act.**
- (2) After the application of the nonrefundable credits in subsection (1) of this section, the nonrefundable personal tax credits against the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 shall be taken in the following order:
- (a) The individual credits permitted by KRS 141.020(3);
 - (b) The credit permitted by KRS 141.066;
 - (c) The tuition credit permitted by KRS 141.069; and
 - (d) The household and dependent care credit permitted by KRS 141.067.
- (3) After the application of the nonrefundable credits provided for in subsection (2) of this section, the refundable credits against the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 shall be taken in the following order:
- (a) The individual withholding tax credit permitted by KRS 141.350;
 - (b) The individual estimated tax payment credit permitted by KRS 141.305; and
 - (c) For taxable years beginning after December 31, 2004, and before January 1, 2007, the corporation income tax credit permitted by KRS 141.420(3)(c).
- (4) The nonrefundable credit permitted by KRS 141.0401 shall be applied against the tax imposed by KRS 141.040.
- (5) The following nonrefundable credits shall be applied against the sum of the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 after subtracting the credit provided for in subsection (4) of this section, and the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 in the following order:
- (a) The economic development credits computed under KRS 141.347, 141.400, 141.401, 141.402, 141.403, 141.407, 141.415,~~and~~ 154.12-2088, *and Section 8 of this Act*;
 - (b) The certified rehabilitation credit permitted by KRS 171.397;
 - (c) The health insurance credit permitted by KRS 141.062;
 - (d) The unemployment credit permitted by KRS 141.065;
 - (e) The recycling or composting equipment credit permitted by KRS 141.390;
 - (f) The coal conversion credit permitted by KRS 141.041;
 - (g) The enterprise zone credit permitted by KRS 154.45-090, for taxable periods ending prior to January 1, 2008;
 - (h) The tax credit for cash contributions to investment funds permitted by KRS 154.20-263 in effect prior to July 15, 2002, and the credit permitted by KRS 154.20-258;
 - (i) The coal incentive credit permitted under KRS 141.0405;
 - (j) The research facilities credit permitted under KRS 141.395;
 - (k) The employer GED incentive credit permitted under KRS 151B.127;
 - (l) The voluntary environmental remediation credit permitted by KRS 141.418;
 - (m) The biodiesel *and renewable diesel* credit permitted by KRS 141.423;
 - (n) The environmental stewardship credit permitted by KRS 154.48-025;~~and~~
 - (o) The clean coal incentive credit permitted by KRS 141.428;
 - (p) The ethanol credit permitted by Section 24 of this Act; and**

(g) The cellulosic ethanol credit permitted by Section 23 of this Act.

- (6) After the application of the nonrefundable credits in subsection (5) of this section, the refundable corporation estimated tax payment credit permitted by KRS 141.044 shall be allowed as a credit against the total of any remaining taxes imposed by KRS 141.040 and the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401.

Section 28. KRS 141.428 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) As used in this section:
- (a) "Clean coal facility" means an electric generation facility beginning commercial operation on or after January 1, 2005, at a cost greater than one hundred fifty million dollars (\$150,000,000) that is located in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and is certified by the Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet as reducing emissions of pollutants released during generation of electricity through the use of clean coal equipment and technologies;
 - (b) "Clean coal equipment" means equipment purchased and installed for commercial use in a clean coal facility to aid in reducing the level of pollutants released during the generation of electricity from eligible coal;
 - (c) "Clean coal technologies" means technologies incorporated for use within a clean coal facility to lower emissions of pollutants released during the generation of electricity from eligible coal;
 - (d) "Eligible coal" means coal that is subject to the tax imposed under KRS 143.020;
 - (e) "Ton" means a unit of weight equivalent to two thousand (2,000) pounds; and
 - (f) "Taxpayer" means taxpayer as defined in KRS 131.010(4).
- (2) Effective for tax years ending on or after December 31, 2006, a nonrefundable, nontransferable credit shall be allowed for:
- (a) Any electric power company **subject to tax under**~~as defined in~~ **KRS 136.120**~~[Chapter 136]~~ and certified as a clean coal facility or any taxpayer that owns or operates a clean coal facility and purchases eligible coal that is used by the taxpayer in a certified clean coal facility; or
 - (b) A parent company of an entity identified in paragraph (a) of this subsection if the subsidiary is wholly owned.
- (3) (a) The credit may be taken against the taxes imposed by:
- 1. KRS 136.070;
 - 2. KRS 136.120; or
 - 3. KRS 141.020 or 141.040, and 141.0401.
- (b) The credit shall not be carried forward and must be used on the tax return filed for the period during which the eligible coal was purchased. The Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet must approve and certify use of the clean coal equipment and technologies within a clean coal facility before any taxpayer may claim the credit.
- (c) The credit allowed under paragraph (a) of this subsection shall be applied both to the income tax imposed under KRS 141.020 or 141.040 and to the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205.
- (4) The amount of the allowable credit shall be two dollars (\$2) per ton of eligible coal purchased that is used to generate electric power at a certified clean coal facility, except that no credit shall be allowed if the eligible coal has been used to generate a credit under KRS 141.0405 for the taxpayer, a parent, or a subsidiary.
- (5) Each taxpayer eligible for the credit provided under subsection (2) of this section shall file a clean coal incentive credit claim on forms prescribed by the Department of Revenue. At the time of filing for the credit, the taxpayer shall submit an electronic report verifying the tons of coal subject to the tax imposed by KRS 143.020 purchased for each year in which the credit is claimed. The Department of Revenue shall determine the amount of the approved credit and issue a credit certificate to the taxpayer.

- (6) Corporations and pass-through entities subject to the tax imposed under KRS 141.040 or 141.0401 shall be eligible to apply, subject to the conditions imposed under this section, the approved credit against its liability for the taxes, in consecutive order as follows:
- (a) The credit shall first be applied against both the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 and the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 or 141.040, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205;
 - (b) The credit shall then be applied to the tax imposed by KRS 136.120.

The credit shall meet the entirety of the taxpayer's liability under the first tax listed in consecutive order before applying any remaining credit to the next tax listed. The taxpayer's total liability under each preceding tax must be fully met before the remaining credit can be applied to the subsequent tax listed in consecutive order.

- (7) If the taxpayer is a pass-through entity not subject to tax under KRS 141.040, the amount of approved credit shall be applied against the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 at the entity level, and shall also be distributed to each partner, member, or shareholder based on the partner's, member's, or shareholder's distributive share of the income of the pass-through entity. The credit shall be claimed in the same manner as specified in subsection (6) of this section. Each pass-through entity shall notify the Department of Revenue electronically of all partners, members, or shareholders who may claim any amount of the approved credit. Failure to provide information to the Department of Revenue in a manner prescribed by regulation may constitute the forfeiture of available credits to all partners, members, or shareholders associated with the pass-through entity.
- (8) The taxpayer shall maintain all records associated with the credit for a period of five (5) years. Acceptable verification of eligible coal purchased shall include invoices that indicate the tons of eligible coal purchased from a Kentucky supplier of coal and proof of remittance for that purchase.
- (9) The Department of Revenue shall develop the forms required under this section, specifying the procedure for claiming the credit, and applying the credit against the taxpayer's liability in the order provided under subsections (6) and (7) of this section.
- (10) The *Governor's Office of Energy Policy*~~Commerce Cabinet~~, Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet, and the Department of Revenue shall promulgate administrative regulations necessary to administer this section.
- (11) This section shall be known as the Kentucky Clean Coal Incentive Act.

Section 29. KRS 56.770 is amended to read as follows:

As used in KRS 56.770 to 56.784, unless the context requires otherwise:

- (1) "Aggregate simple payback period" means the simple payback period of a set of energy efficiency measures taken together for a building;
- (2) "Building" means all contiguous land, structures, appurtenances, and improvements that use energy;
- (3) "Energy audit" means examination of a building's energy-using systems, energy consumption and costs, occupancy patterns, and operation and maintenance procedures;
- (4) "Energy efficiency measure" means any construction, improvement, repair, alteration, or betterment of a building that is intended to reduce energy costs; or any equipment, fixture, or furnishing to be added to or used in a building that will be a cost-effective energy-related project that is intended to reduce energy costs;
- (5) "Guaranteed energy savings performance contract" means an agreement for the provision of energy services or equipment, including energy efficiency measures, energy conservation measures and alternate energy technologies for state government buildings, in which a person agrees to design, construct, install, maintain, operate, or manage energy systems or equipment to improve energy efficiency of, or produce energy in connection with, a state government building. Payments for a guaranteed energy savings performance contract shall be made from measured and verified savings generated from implementation of the energy efficiency measures financed by the contract. The term of a guaranteed energy savings performance contract shall not exceed the life of the energy savings generated from implementation of the energy efficiency measures financed by the contract. If the measured and verified savings are not sufficient to pay the financial obligations under the contract, the contractor is liable for the contract payments;
- (6) "Engineering analysis" means a detailed cost-benefit analysis of energy efficiency investments including a review of potential cost savings through operation and maintenance changes;

- (7) "Life-cycle cost analysis" means a method for estimating the total cost of an energy-using component or building over its useful life, including cost factors such as purchase price or construction, renovation, or leasing costs, energy use, maintenance, interest, and inflation;
- (8) "Low cost/no cost energy conservation measures" means those energy saving practices and energy efficiency measures, usually involving operation and maintenance practices, that can be accomplished by existing personnel within existing operating budgets;
- (9) "Simple payback period" means the number of years it takes to pay back, from estimated savings, the initial cost of an energy efficiency measure with the simple payback period equal to the initial cost divided by the estimated annual savings;
- (10) "Savings" means the reduction in expenditures, excluding any state government and post-secondary education personnel expenditures, that are measured and verified, including but not limited to energy usage, operating costs, and capital cost avoidance that occur as a result of the implementation of energy efficiency measures;
- (11) "Capital cost avoidance" means savings generated when expenditures of appropriated capital construction or appropriated capital outlay funds are avoided because the budgeted capital improvements or items of equipment are contained within the energy efficiency measures provided by a guaranteed energy savings performance contract; ~~and~~
- (12) "Operating costs" means expenditures associated with operating and maintaining a properly functioning building and its systems including but not limited to the heating, ventilation, cooling, lighting, plumbing, water heating, electrical, and laundry systems and their controls;
- (13) ***"ENERGY STAR" means the voluntary program administered by the United States Environmental Protection Agency and the United States Department of Energy that is designed to protect the environment through the promotion of energy-efficient products and practices;***
- (14) ***"Green Globes rating system" means the on-line environmental assessment tool developed by the Green Building Initiative as of December, 2004, that allows designers, property owners, and managers to evaluate and rate buildings against best sustainable building design practices and integrate principles of sustainable architecture at every stage of project delivery in order to design and construct buildings that will be energy-efficient and resource-efficient, achieve operational savings, and provide healthier environments in which to live and work; and***
- (15) ***"LEED" means the building rating systems developed on or after January 1, 2005, by the United States Green Building Council that allow designers, property owners, and managers to evaluate and rate buildings against best sustainable building design and practices and to integrate principles of sustainable architecture at every stage of project delivery in order to design and construct buildings that will be energy-efficient and resource-efficient using a whole-building approach in five (5) key areas of human and environmental health:***
- (a) Sustainable site development;***
 - (b) Water savings;***
 - (c) Energy efficiency;***
 - (d) Material selection; and***
 - (e) Environmental quality.***

Section 30. KRS 56.776 is amended to read as follows:

The Finance and Administration Cabinet, with the assistance of the ***Governor's*** Office of Energy Policy ~~within the Commerce Cabinet~~, shall institute an energy audit training program to identify energy saving techniques for state-owned building maintenance staff. Additional programs shall be developed to educate state employees and other building occupants on energy awareness and practices to reduce energy use in state-owned buildings. Local government employees may be included in training and educational programs.

SECTION 31. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 56.770 TO 56.784 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

To improve energy efficiency throughout state government, the Finance and Administration Cabinet is encouraged to:

- (1) *Utilize the LEED rating system or the Green Globes rating system to promote the design, construction, and operation of high-performance energy-efficient buildings; and*
- (2) *Incorporate ENERGY STAR-qualified products in state agency procurements.*

Section 32. KRS 56.784 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) *Each agency responsible for managing state-owned property shall review the utility usage of the property and shall cooperate with the Finance and Administration Cabinet to determine which properties are good candidates for guaranteed energy savings performance contracts. The responsible agency is encouraged to implement guaranteed energy savings performance contracts where appropriate.*
- (2) The Finance and Administration Cabinet may implement the provisions of KRS 56.770 to 56.784 through the promulgation of administrative regulations pursuant to KRS Chapter 13A.
- ~~(3)~~~~(2)~~ ~~{By July 15, 2002, }~~The secretary of the Finance and Administration Cabinet shall promulgate administrative regulations in accordance with the provisions of KRS Chapter 13A establishing a process for procurement of energy savings performance contracts, including required contract language. The following entities shall adhere to these regulations when procuring services under a guaranteed energy savings performance contract:
 - (a) Any governing body of a postsecondary institution that manages its capital construction program under KRS 164A.580; or
 - (b) Any public corporation as defined by KRS 45.750(2)(c) or as created under the Kentucky Revised Statutes as a governmental agency and instrumentality of the Commonwealth that manages its capital construction program.
- ~~(4)~~~~(3)~~ All state agencies, including those identified in subsection ~~(3)~~~~(2)~~ of this section, shall submit proposed guaranteed energy savings performance contracts to the Office of Financial Management within the Office of the Controller for review and approval prior to contract execution.
- ~~(5)~~~~(4)~~ The secretary shall report all authorized guaranteed energy savings performance contracts to the Capital Projects and Bond Oversight Committee for its review.

Section 33. KRS 56.782 is amended to read as follows:

The Finance and Administration Cabinet shall report on or before October 15 in odd-numbered years to the Legislative Research Commission on progress made to maximize the use of energy-efficiency measures in state government. The Legislative Research Commission shall transmit the report to the appropriate interim joint committees and to the General Assembly when it convenes. The report shall include, but not be limited to:

- (1) A summary of initiatives undertaken by the cabinet during the reporting period to promote adoption of low cost/no cost energy-efficiency measures, including employee training efforts;
- (2) A summary of energy-efficiency measures installed and energy improvements made during the reporting period;
- (3) Energy consumption and expenditure data for facilities owned or leased by state government and any documented savings made as a result of energy-efficiency measures and improvements;
- (4) Status report on efforts to assure buildings newly constructed, renovated, or leased are energy-efficient;
- (5) Any efforts made during the reporting period to promote acquisition of energy-efficient products pursuant to KRS 45A.045(12); ~~and~~
- (6) Any recommendations for future funding of energy improvements or other measures needed to assure energy efficiency in state government; *and*
- (7) *Any improvements in energy efficiency planned or realized through the use of the LEED rating system, the Green Globes rating system, ENERGY STAR-qualified products, and guaranteed energy savings performance contracts.*

SECTION 34. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 45A IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *The Finance and Administration Cabinet shall develop a strategy to:*

- (a) *Replace at least fifty percent (50%) of the state-owned passenger vehicles and light-duty trucks managed by the Division of Fleet Management as of January 1, 2008, with:*
1. *New qualified hybrid motor vehicles as defined in 26 U.S.C. sec. 30B;*
 2. *New advanced lean burn technology motor vehicles as defined in 26 U.S.C. sec. 30B;*
 3. *New qualified fuel cell motor vehicles as defined in 26 U.S.C. sec. 30B; or*
 4. *New qualified alternative fuel motor vehicles as defined in 26 U.S.C. sec. 30B; and*
- (b) *Increase the use of ethanol, biodiesel, and other alternative transportation fuels as defined in Section 38 of this Act to reduce state government's dependence on petroleum-based transportation fuels, where possible.*
- (2) *On or before December 1, 2007, and every December 1 thereafter, the Finance and Administration Cabinet shall report to the Legislative Research Commission:*
- (a) *The strategy for transitioning to motor vehicles outlined in subsection (1) of this section, including a life-cycle cost comparison, and a projected timetable to replace motor vehicles in the state motor pool as provided in subsection (1) of this section; and*
 - (b) *The strategy for increased use of ethanol, cellulosic ethanol, biodiesel, and alternative transportation fuels, including the targeted amount and the dates by which these targets shall be achieved.*

Section 35. KRS 12.020 is amended to read as follows:

Departments, program cabinets and their departments, and the respective major administrative bodies that they include are enumerated in this section. It is not intended that this enumeration of administrative bodies be all-inclusive. Every authority, board, bureau, interstate compact, commission, committee, conference, council, office, or any other form of organization shall be included in or attached to the department or program cabinet in which they are included or to which they are attached by statute or statutorily authorized executive order; except in the case of the Personnel Board and where the attached department or administrative body is headed by a constitutionally elected officer, the attachment shall be solely for the purpose of dissemination of information and coordination of activities and shall not include any authority over the functions, personnel, funds, equipment, facilities, or records of the department or administrative body.

I. Cabinet for General Government - Departments headed by elected officers:

1. The Governor.
2. Lieutenant Governor.
3. Department of State.
 - (a) Secretary of State.
 - (b) Board of Elections.
 - (c) Registry of Election Finance.
4. Department of Law.
 - (a) Attorney General.
5. Department of the Treasury.
 - (a) Treasurer.
6. Department of Agriculture.
 - (a) Commissioner of Agriculture.
 - (b) Kentucky Council on Agriculture.
7. Auditor of Public Accounts.

II. Program cabinets headed by appointed officers:

1. Justice and Public Safety Cabinet:
 - (a) Department of Kentucky State Police.

- (b) Department of Criminal Justice Training.
 - (c) Department of Corrections.
 - (d) Department of Juvenile Justice.
 - (e) Office of the Secretary.
 - (f) Office of Drug Control Policy.
 - (g) Office of Legal Services.
 - (h) Office of the Kentucky State Medical Examiner.
 - (i) Parole Board.
 - (j) Kentucky State Corrections Commission.
 - (k) Office of Legislative and Intergovernmental Services.
 - (l) Office of Management and Administrative Services.
 - (m) Office of Public Safety Training.
 - (n) Office of Investigations.
 - (o) Department of Kentucky Vehicle Enforcement.
 - (p) Department for Public Advocacy.
2. Education Cabinet:
- (a) Office of the Secretary.
 - (b) Office of Legal Services.
 - 1. Client Assistance Program.
 - (c) Office of Communication.
 - (d) Office of Legislative and Intergovernmental Affairs.
 - (e) Office of Budget and Administration.
 - 1. Division of Human Resources.
 - 2. Division of Administrative Services.
 - 3. Division of Technology Services.
 - (f) Board of Directors for the Center for School Safety.
 - (g) Council on Postsecondary Education.
 - 1. Foundation for Adult Education.
 - (h) Department of Education.
 - 1. Kentucky Board of Education.
 - (i) Department for Libraries and Archives.
 - (j) Department of Workforce Investment.
 - 1. Office for the Blind.
 - 2. Office of Vocational Rehabilitation.
 - 3. Office of Career and Technical Education.
 - 4. Office of Employment and Training.
 - (k) Foundation for Workforce Development.
 - (l) Kentucky Office for the Blind State Rehabilitation Council.

- (m) Kentucky Technical Education Personnel Board.
 - (n) Kentucky Workforce Investment Board.
 - (o) Statewide Council for Vocational Rehabilitation.
 - (p) Statewide Independent Living Council.
 - (q) Unemployment Insurance Commission.
 - (r) Education Professional Standards Board.
 - 1. Division of Educator Preparation.
 - 2. Division of Certification.
 - 3. Division of Professional Learning and Assessment.
 - 4. Division of Legal Services.
 - (s) Kentucky Commission on the Deaf and Hard of Hearing.
 - (t) Kentucky Educational Television.
 - (u) Kentucky Environmental Education Council.
3. Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet:
- (a) Office of the Secretary.
 - 1. Office of Legislative and Intergovernmental Affairs.
 - 2. Office of Communications and Public Outreach.
 - 3. Office of Regulatory Affairs.
 - 4. Office of Legal Services.
 - 5. Office of Administrative and Information Services.
 - 6. Office of Administrative Hearings.
 - 7. Office of Inspector General.
 - 8. Mine Safety Review Commission.
 - 9. Workers' Compensation Board.
 - 10. Kentucky State Nature Preserves Commission.
 - 11. Kentucky Environmental Quality Commission.
 - 12. Kentucky Occupational Safety and Health Review Commission.
 - (b) Department for Environmental Protection.
 - 1. Office of the Commissioner.
 - 2. Division of Air Quality.
 - 3. Division of Water.
 - 4. Division of Environmental Services.
 - 5. Division of Waste Management.
 - 6. Division of Enforcement.
 - 7. Division of Compliance Assistance.
 - (c) Department for Natural Resources.
 - 1. Office of the Commissioner.
 - 2. Office of Technical and Administrative Support.

3. Division of Mine Permits.
 4. Division of Mine Reclamation and Enforcement.
 5. Division of Abandoned Mine Lands.
 6. Division of Oil and Gas Conservation.
 7. Office of Mine Safety and Licensing.
 8. Division of Forestry.
 9. Division of Conservation.
- (d) Department of Public Protection.
1. Office of the Commissioner.
 2. Division of Administrative Services.
 3. Crime Victims Compensation Board.
 4. Board of Claims.
 5. Board of Tax Appeals.
 6. Kentucky Boxing and Wrestling Authority.
 7. Kentucky Horse Racing Authority.
 8. Kentucky Public Service Commission.
 9. Office of Alcoholic Beverage Control.
 10. Office of Charitable Gaming.
 11. Office of Financial Institutions.
 12. Office of Housing, Buildings and Construction.
 13. Office of Insurance.
- (e) Department of Labor.
1. Office of the Commissioner.
 2. Office of Occupational Safety and Health.
 3. Office of Labor Management Relations and Mediation.
 4. Office of Workplace Standards.
 5. Office of Workers' Claims.
 6. Workers' Compensation Funding Commission.
 7. Kentucky Labor Management Advisory Council.
 8. Occupational Safety and Health Standards Board.
 9. Prevailing Wage Review Board.
 10. Kentucky Employees Insurance Association.
 11. Apprenticeship and Training Council.
 12. State Labor Relations Board.
 13. Workers' Compensation Advisory Council.
 14. Workers' Compensation Nominating Commission.
 15. Employers' Mutual Insurance Authority.
 16. Division of Administrative Services.

4. Transportation Cabinet:
 - (a) Department of Highways.
 1. Office of Program Planning and Management.
 2. Office of Project Development.
 3. Office of Construction and Operations.
 4. Office of Intermodal Programs.
 5. Highway District Offices One through Twelve.
 - (b) Department of Vehicle Regulation.
 - (c) Department of Administrative Services.
 - (d) Department of Aviation.
 - (e) Department of Intergovernmental Programs.
 1. Office of Transportation Enhancement Programs.
 2. Office of Rural and Secondary Roads.
 - (f) Office of the Secretary.
 1. Office of Legislative and Intergovernmental Affairs.
 2. Office of Public Affairs.
 3. Office of Transportation Delivery.
 4. Office for Business and Occupational Development.
 5. Office of Budget and Fiscal Management.
 6. Office of Legal Services.
 7. Office of Inspector General.
 8. Office of the Transportation Operations Center.
 9. Office of Personnel Management.
5. Cabinet for Economic Development:
 - (a) Office of Administration and Support.
 - (b) Department for New Business Development.
 - (c) Department of Financial Incentives.
 - (d) Department for Existing Business Development.
 - (e) Tobacco Research Board.
 - (f) Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority.
 - (g) Office of Research and Information Technology.
 - (h) Department of Commercialization and Innovation.
 - (i) Office of Legal Services.
 - (j) Commission on Small Business Advocacy.
6. Cabinet for Health and Family Services:
 - (a) Department for Public Health.
 - (b) Department for Medicaid Services.
 - (c) Department for Mental Health and Mental Retardation Services.

- (d) Kentucky Commission for Children with Special Health Care Needs.
 - (e) Office of Health Policy.
 - (f) Office of the Secretary.
 - (g) Office of Legal Services.
 - (h) Office of Inspector General.
 - (i) Office of Legislative and Public Affairs.
 - (j) Department for Community Based Services.
 - (k) Department for Disability Determination Services.
 - (l) Office of the Ombudsman.
 - (m) Department for Human Support Services.
 - (n) Kentucky Commission on Community Volunteerism and Service.
 - (o) Office of Fiscal Services.
 - (p) Office of Human Resource Management.
 - (q) Office of Technology.
 - (r) Office of Contract Oversight.
 - (s) Governor's Office of Wellness and Physical Activity.
 - (t) Department for Aging and Independent Living.
7. Finance and Administration Cabinet:
- (a) Office of General Counsel.
 - (b) Office of the Controller.
 - (c) Office of Administrative Services.
 - (d) Office of Public Information.
 - (e) Department for Facilities and Support Services.
 - (f) Department of Revenue.
 - (g) Commonwealth Office of Technology.
 - (h) State Property and Buildings Commission.
 - (i) Kentucky Savings Bond Authority.
 - (j) Office of Equal Employment Opportunity and Contract Compliance.
 - (k) Kentucky Employees Retirement Systems.
 - (l) Commonwealth Credit Union.
 - (m) State Investment Commission.
 - (n) Kentucky Housing Corporation.
 - (o) Kentucky Local Correctional Facilities Construction Authority.
 - (p) Kentucky Turnpike Authority.
 - (q) Historic Properties Advisory Commission.
 - (r) Kentucky Tobacco Settlement Trust Corporation.
 - (s) State Board for Proprietary Education.
 - (t) Kentucky Higher Education Assistance Authority.

- (u) Kentucky River Authority.
 - (v) Kentucky Teachers' Retirement System Board of Trustees.
8. Commerce Cabinet:
- (a) Department of Tourism.
 - (1) Division of Tourism Services.
 - (2) Division of Marketing and Advertising.
 - (3) Division of Parks Marketing.
 - (b) Kentucky Department of Parks.
 - (1) Division of Information Technology.
 - (2) Division of Personnel and Payroll.
 - (3) Division of Financial Operations.
 - (4) Division of Facilities Management.
 - (5) Division of Facilities Maintenance.
 - (6) Division of Customer Services.
 - (7) Division of Recreation.
 - (8) Division of Golf Courses.
 - (9) Division of Food Services.
 - (10) Division of Rangers.
 - (11) Division of Eastern Parks.
 - (12) Division of Southern Parks.
 - (13) Division of Western Parks.
 - (c) Department of Fish and Wildlife Resources.
 - (1) Division of Law Enforcement.
 - (2) Division of Administrative Services.
 - (3) Division of Engineering.
 - (4) Division of Fisheries.
 - (5) Division of Information and Education.
 - (6) Division of Wildlife.
 - (7) Division of Public Affairs.
 - (d) Kentucky Horse Park.
 - (1) Division of Support Services.
 - (2) Division of Buildings and Grounds.
 - (3) Division of Operational Services.
 - (e) Kentucky State Fair Board.
 - (1) Division of Expositions and Admission.
 - (2) Division of Kentucky Fair and Exposition Center Operations.
 - (3) Division of Commonwealth Convention Center.
 - (4) Division of Public Relations and Media.

ACTS OF THE GENERAL ASSEMBLY

- (5) Division of Administrative Services.
 - (6) Division of Personnel Management and Staff Development.
 - (7) Division of Sales.
 - (8) Division of Security and Traffic Control.
 - (f) Office of the Secretary.
 - (g) Office of Finance and Administration.
 - (h) Office of Legal Affairs.
 - (i) Office of Intergovernmental Affairs.
 - (j) Office of Human Resources.
 - (k) Office of Public Affairs and Constituent Services.
 - (l) Office of Information Technology.
 - (m) Office of the Kentucky Sports Authority.
 - (1) Kentucky Sports Authority Board.
 - (n) Office of Creative Services.
 - (o) Office of Capital Plaza Operations.
 - ~~(p) Office of Energy Policy.~~
 - ~~(1) Energy Policy Advisory Council.~~
 - ~~(q) Office of Arts and Cultural Heritage.~~
 - ~~(q)(*) Kentucky African-American Heritage Commission.~~
 - ~~(r)(s) Kentucky Foundation for the Arts.~~
 - ~~(s)(t) Kentucky Humanities Council.~~
 - ~~(t)(u) Kentucky Heritage Council.~~
 - ~~(u)(v) Kentucky Arts Council.~~
 - ~~(v)(w) Kentucky Historical Society.~~
 - (1) Division of Museums.
 - (2) Division of Oral History and Educational Outreach.
 - (3) Division of Research and Publications.
 - (4) Division of Administration.
 - ~~(w)(x) Kentucky Center for the Arts.~~
 - (1) Division of Governor's School for the Arts.
 - ~~(x)(y) Kentucky Artisans Center at Berea.~~
 - ~~(y)(z) Martin Luther King Commission.~~
 - ~~(z)(aa) Northern Kentucky Convention Center.~~
 - ~~(aa)(ab) Eastern Kentucky Exposition Center.~~
9. Personnel Cabinet:
- (a) Office of the Secretary.
 - (b) Department for Personnel Administration.
 - (c) Office for Employee Relations.

- (d) Kentucky Public Employees Deferred Compensation Authority.
- (e) Office of Administrative Services.
- (f) Office of Legal Services.
- (g) Office of Government Training.
- (h) Department for Employee Insurance.

III. Other departments headed by appointed officers:

- 1. Department of Military Affairs.
- 2. Governor's Office for Local Development.
- 3. Kentucky Commission on Human Rights.
- 4. Kentucky Commission on Women.
- 5. Department of Veterans' Affairs.
- 6. Kentucky Commission on Military Affairs.
- 7. Office of Minority Empowerment.
- 8. Governor's Council on Wellness and Physical Activity.

Section 36. KRS 12.023 is amended to read as follows:

The following organizational units and administrative bodies shall be attached to the Office of the Governor:

- (1) Department of Military Affairs;
- (2) Governor's Office for Local Development;
- (3) Kentucky Commission on Human Rights;
- (4) Kentucky Commission on Women;
- (5) Kentucky Commission on Military Affairs;
- (6) Governor's Scholars Program;
- (7) Agricultural Development Board;
- (8) Kentucky Agricultural Finance Corporation;
- (9) Office of Minority Empowerment;
- (10) Office of Homeland Security; ~~and~~
- (11) Governor's Council on Wellness and Physical Activity; **and**
- (12) ***The Governor's Office of Energy Policy.***

SECTION 37. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 152.710 TO 152.725 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) ***The Governor's Office of Energy Policy is created and attached for administrative purposes to the Office of the Governor. The Governor's Office of Energy Policy shall be headed by an executive director.***
- (2) ***The Governor's Office of Energy Policy shall:***
 - (a) ***Oversee the development and implementation of Kentucky's comprehensive energy strategy;***
 - (b) ***Provide leadership to enhance the benefits of energy efficiency and alternative energy through supporting awareness, technology development, energy preparedness, partnerships, and resource development;***
 - (c) ***Enhance the economic opportunities and benefits to Kentucky citizens and industry through expansion of current markets and the development of market opportunities for Kentucky coal, natural gas, petroleum, oil shale, tar sands, liquid and gaseous fuels from coal, and chemicals from coal;***

- (d) *To the extent funding is available, administer grant programs to support energy-related research, development, and demonstration, including the support of multistate cooperative regional partnerships and research initiatives;*
 - (e) *Develop and implement programs for the development, conservation, and utilization of energy in a manner to meet essential human needs while maintaining the Kentucky economy at the highest feasible level. The programs shall include:*
 - 1. *Central access for collection, maintenance, and analysis of data and information on all forms of energy supply, demand, conservation, and related subjects;*
 - 2. *Formulation of a contingency plan to address any energy shortage which may occur from time to time. The contingency plan shall relate to the curtailment, allocation, planning, and management of all forms of energy;*
 - 3. *Development and implementation of major energy conservation programs involving all sectors of the Kentucky economy, including energy audits of educational facilities and state-owned buildings; and*
 - 4. *Provision for the application of appropriate technologies with regard to alternative energy development, including the development of solar and other renewable resources and small-scale hydroelectric plants, and promotion, when feasible, of the production of energy from other resources such as solid waste and biomass;*
 - (f) *Provide technical assistance to the Finance and Administration Cabinet in implementing the Energy Efficiency in Government Buildings Program;*
 - (g) *Enter into agreements, administer grant programs, and serve as a liaison with the federal government and other states in matters relating to energy; and*
 - (h) *Participate in the review of applications and, upon request of the authority, assist the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority in monitoring tax incentive agreements as provided in Subchapter 27 of KRS Chapter 154.*
- (3) *The office may establish reasonable application fees to offset costs associated with reviewing and processing applications, including costs associated with hiring outside consultants.*
 - (4) *The office is encouraged to use state funding available to it as a match for federal or private funding to increase the resources available to support energy research and development.*
 - (5) *The office is encouraged to explore and develop regional partnerships and cooperative research initiatives with other states and governmental entities to enhance resources available for energy research and development.*

Section 38. KRS 152.715 is amended to read as follows:

As used in KRS 152.710 to 152.725, unless the context requires otherwise:

- (1) "~~Alternative~~~~[Alternate]~~ transportation fuels" means transportation fuels produced by processes that convert coal, *waste coal*, or biomass resources or extract oil from oil shale to produce fuels for powering vehicles, aircraft, and machinery. "~~Alternative~~~~[Alternate]~~ transportation fuels" may include but are not limited to petroleum, jet fuel, gasoline, diesel fuel, hydrogen derived from coal, and diesel fuel and ethanol derived from biomass;
- (2) "Synthetic natural gas" means pipeline quality or industrial quality natural gas produced from coal through gasification processes;
- (3) "Fossil energy resources" means reserves of coal, oil shale, and natural gas; and
- (4) "Biomass resources" means *any organic matter that is available on a renewable or recurring basis, including agricultural crops and trees; wood and wood residues; plants, aquatic plants, and plant oils; grasses; animal fats and animal by-products; animal manure; residue materials; and waste products*~~[agricultural materials that may be used for production of transportation fuels such as biodiesel or ethanol or that may themselves be used as a fuel, alone or in combination with a fossil fuel, for generation of electricity].~~

Section 39. KRS 152.720 is amended to read as follows:

To ensure that Kentucky will lead the states in securing the energy independence of the United States and will consequently benefit from economic growth and stabilization of the Commonwealth's coal industry and agriculture, the *Governor's* ~~[Kentucky]~~ Office of Energy Policy shall develop and implement a strategy for production of *alternative* ~~[transportation]~~ fuels and synthetic natural gas from fossil energy resources and biomass resources. The strategy shall address:

- (1) Technologies available or in use for producing *alternative* ~~[transportation]~~ fuels and synthetic natural gas from fossil energy resources and biomass resources and the relative advantages of these in terms of process efficiencies, environmental performance, and marketable products, including chemicals, industrial feedstocks, and electricity;
- (2) Research, demonstration, and commercial-scale construction and operation of one (1) or more technologies, and follow-up expansion;
- (3) The essential nature of efficient cooperation, coordination, and synergy between the efforts of the *Governor's* Office of Energy Policy and those of Kentucky's universities in order to maximize Kentucky's opportunities to ~~access~~ ^{tap} federal ~~funds~~ ~~[funding streams]~~ and *to* receive research grants and awards from federal and other sources *to fund* ~~[funding]~~ the development of clean coal technology, coal-to-liquid-fuel conversion, synthetic natural gas, *alternative* ~~[alternate]~~ transportation fuels, and biomass ~~[energy]~~ resources;
- (4) *The identification of* federal funds *available* for research, development, construction, and operation of *alternative* ~~[alternate]~~ fuels or synthetic natural gas plants at laboratory, demonstration, and commercial scale;
- (5) Establishment of a major federal energy research laboratory in Kentucky;
- (6) Industry participation, both by single firms and by consortia, in research, development, construction, and operation of *alternative* ~~[alternate]~~ transportation fuels or synthetic natural gas plants;
- (7) Establishment or expansion of Kentucky state government incentives for development, construction, or operation of *alternative* ~~[alternate]~~ transportation fuels and synthetic natural gas production facilities, including but not limited to financial incentives, tax incentives, mandating or providing incentives for use of *alternative* ~~[alternate]~~ transportation fuels and synthetic natural gas by state government, school districts, or utilities, authority to issue bonds, and acquisition and preliminary environmental assessment of industrial sites; and
- (8) Development of incentives to encourage energy conservation and renewable fuel and energy use and deployment of *renewable energy*, including solar *power*, wind *power*, *hydropower* ~~[hydro]~~, and other sources. ~~[State incentives should mirror those established at the federal level.]~~

Section 40. KRS 56.790 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) The Energy Policy Advisory Council is hereby established for the purpose of assisting and advising the *Governor's* Office of Energy Policy. Membership shall consist of:
 - (a) Fifteen (15) members of the public, appointed by the Governor and representing various energy interests within the Commonwealth; and
 - (b) The executive director of the *Governor's* Office of Energy Policy who shall serve as a nonvoting member and as chairman of the council.
- (2)
 - (a) Each appointed member shall serve for a term of four (4) years.
 - (b) Any member may be removed ~~[from his appointment]~~ by the Governor for cause.
 - (c) Appointed members shall be reimbursed for travel costs incurred in attending meetings, which shall be paid from the funds of the *Governor's* Office of Energy Policy, and in compliance with the ~~[Commerce Cabinet's]~~ procedures for travel and reimbursement *of the Office of the Governor*.
- (3)
 - (a) The chairman shall set the agenda, place, and time of meetings which shall be held a minimum of two (2) times a year and shall be held in accordance with the provisions of the Open Meetings Act, KRS 61.805 to 61.850.
 - (b) A quorum for all council meetings shall consist of eight (8) of the appointed members.

SECTION 41. A NEW SECTION OF KRS 152.710 TO 152.725 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

From a list of potential sites developed by the Governor's Office of Energy Policy and suitable for development of alternative fuel facilities, gasification facilities or renewable energy facilities as defined in Section 1 of this Act, the Governor's Office of Energy Policy may expend state funds for preliminary environmental and baseline assessments, inventories, and other activities on or for the potential sites in furtherance of environmental or other permitting required for the development of an eligible project.

Section 42. KRS 224.10-100 is amended to read as follows:

In addition to any other powers and duties vested in it by law, the cabinet shall have the authority, power, and duty to:

- (1) Exercise general supervision of the administration and enforcement of this chapter, and all rules, regulations, and orders promulgated thereunder;
- (2) Prepare and develop a comprehensive plan or plans related to the environment of the Commonwealth;
- (3) Encourage industrial, commercial, residential, and community development which provides the best usage of land areas, maximizes environmental benefits, and minimizes the effects of less desirable environmental conditions;
- (4) Develop and conduct a comprehensive program for the management of water, land, and air resources to assure their protection and balance utilization consistent with the environmental policy of the Commonwealth;
- (5) Provide for the prevention, abatement, and control of all water, land, and air pollution including, but not limited to, that related to particulates, pesticides, gases, dust, vapors, noise, radiation, odor, nutrients, heated liquid, or other contaminants;
- (6) Provide for the control and regulation of surface coal mining and reclamation in a manner to accomplish the purposes of KRS Chapter 350;
- (7) Secure necessary scientific, technical, administrative, and operational services, including laboratory facilities, by contract or otherwise;
- (8) Collect and disseminate information and conduct educational and training programs relating to the protection of the environment;
- (9) Appear and participate in proceedings before any federal regulatory agency involving or affecting the purposes of the cabinet;
- (10) Enter and inspect any property or premises for the purpose of investigating either actual or suspected sources of pollution or contamination or for the purpose of ascertaining compliance or noncompliance with this chapter, or any regulation which may be promulgated thereunder;
- (11) Conduct investigations and hold hearings and compel the attendance of witnesses and the production of accounts, books, and records by the issuance of subpoenas;
- (12) Accept, receive, and administer grants or other funds or gifts from public and private agencies including the federal government for the purpose of carrying out any of the functions of the cabinet. The funds received by the cabinet shall be deposited in the State Treasury to the account of the cabinet;
- (13) Request and receive the assistance of any state or municipal educational institution, experiment station, laboratory, or other agency when it is deemed necessary or beneficial by the cabinet in the performance of its duties;
- (14) Advise, consult, and cooperate with other agencies of the Commonwealth, other states, the federal government, and interstate and interlocal agencies, and affected persons, groups, and industries;
- (15) Formulate guides for measuring presently unidentified environmental values and relationships so they can be given appropriate consideration along with social, economic, and technical considerations in decision making;
- (16) Monitor the environment to afford more effective and efficient control practices, to identify changes and conditions in ecological systems, and to warn of emergency conditions;
- (17) Adopt, modify, or repeal with the recommendation of the commission any standard, regulation, or plan specified in subsections (5) and (6) of KRS 224.01-110;
- (18) Issue, after hearing, orders abating activities in violation of this chapter, or the provisions of this chapter, or the regulations promulgated pursuant thereto and requiring the adoption of the remedial measures the cabinet deems necessary;

- (19) Issue, continue in effect, revoke, modify, suspend, or deny under such conditions as the cabinet may prescribe and require that applications be accompanied by plans, specifications, and other information the cabinet deems necessary for the following permits:
- (a) Permits to discharge into any waters of the Commonwealth, and for the installation, alteration, expansion, or operation of any sewage system; however, the cabinet may refuse to issue the permits to any person, or any partnership, corporation, etc., of which the person owns more than ten percent (10%) interest, who has improperly constructed, operated, or maintained a sewage system willfully, through negligence, or because of lack of proper knowledge or qualifications until the time that person demonstrates proper qualifications to the cabinet and provides the cabinet with a performance bond;
 - (b) Permits for the installation, alteration, or use of any machine, equipment, device, or other article that may cause or contribute to air pollution or is intended primarily to prevent or control the emission of air pollution; or
 - (c) Permits for the establishment or construction and the operation or maintenance of waste disposal sites and facilities;
- (20) May establish, by regulation, a fee or schedule of fees for the cost of processing applications for permits authorized by this chapter, and for the cost of processing applications for exemptions or partial exemptions which may include, but not be limited to, the administrative costs of a hearing held as a result of the exemption application, except that applicants for existing or proposed publicly-owned facilities shall be exempt from any charge, other than emissions fees assessed pursuant to KRS 224.20-050, and that certain nonprofit organizations shall be charged lower fees to process water discharge permits under KRS 224.16-050(5);
- (21) May require for persons discharging into the waters or onto the land of the Commonwealth, by regulation, order, or permit, technological levels of treatment and effluent limitations;
- (22) Require, by regulation, that any person engaged in any operation regulated pursuant to this chapter install, maintain, and use at such locations and intervals as the cabinet may prescribe any equipment, device, or test and the methodologies and procedures for the use of the equipment, device, or test to monitor the nature and amount of any substance emitted or discharged into the ambient air or waters or land of the Commonwealth and to provide any information concerning the monitoring to the cabinet in accordance with the provisions of subsection (23) of this section;
- (23) Require by regulation that any person engaged in any operation regulated pursuant to this chapter file with the cabinet reports containing information as to location, size, height, rate of emission or discharge, and composition of any substance discharged or emitted into the ambient air or into the waters or onto the land of the Commonwealth, and such other information the cabinet may require;
- (24) Promulgate regulations, guidelines, and standards for waste planning and management activities, approve waste management facilities, develop and publish a comprehensive statewide plan for nonhazardous waste management which shall contain, but not be limited to, the provisions set forth in KRS 224.43-345, and develop and publish a comprehensive statewide plan for hazardous waste management which shall contain, but not be limited to, the following:
- (a) A description of current hazardous waste management practices and costs, including treatment and disposal, within the Commonwealth;
 - (b) An inventory and description of all existing facilities where hazardous waste is being generated, treated, recycled, stored, or disposed of, including an inventory of the deficiencies of present facilities in meeting current hazardous waste management needs and a statement of the ability of present hazardous waste management facilities to comply with state and federal laws relating to hazardous waste;
 - (c) A description of the sources of hazardous waste affecting the Commonwealth including the types and quantities of hazardous waste currently being generated and a projection of such activities as can be expected to continue for not less than twenty (20) years into the future; and
 - (d) An identification and continuing evaluation of those locations within the Commonwealth which are naturally or may be engineered to be suitable for the establishment of hazardous waste management facilities, and an identification of those general characteristics, values, and attributes which would render a particular location unsuitable, consistent with the policy of minimizing land disposal and encouraging the treatment and recycling of the wastes.

The statewide waste management plans shall be developed consistent with state and federal laws relating to waste;

- (25) Perform other acts necessary to carry out the duties and responsibilities described in this section;
- (26) Preserve existing clean air resources while ensuring economic growth by issuing regulations, which shall be no more stringent than federal requirements, setting maximum allowable increases from stationary sources over baseline concentrations of air contaminants to prevent significant deterioration in areas meeting the state and national ambient air quality standards;
- (27) Promulgate regulations concerning the bonding provisions of subsection (19)(a) of this section, setting forth bonding requirements including, but not limited to, requirements for the amount, duration, release, and forfeiture of the bonds. All funds from the forfeiture of bonds required pursuant to this section shall be placed in the State Treasury and credited to a special trust and agency account which shall not lapse. The account shall be known as the "sewage treatment system rehabilitation fund" and all moneys placed in the fund shall be used for the elimination of nuisances and hazards created by sewage systems which were improperly built, operated, or maintained, and insofar as practicable be used to correct the problems at the same site for which the bond or other sureties were originally provided; *and*
- ~~(28) Develop and implement programs for the development, conservation, and utilization of energy in a manner to meet essential human needs while maintaining the Kentucky economy at the highest feasible level. The programs shall include:

 - ~~(a) Central access for collection, maintenance, and analysis of data and information on all forms of energy supplies, demand, conservation, and related subjects;~~
 - ~~(b) Formulation of a contingency plan to cope with any energy shortage which may occur from time to time. The contingency plan shall relate to the curtailment, allocation, planning, and management of all forms of energy;~~
 - ~~(c) Development and implementation of major energy conservation programs involving all sectors of the Kentucky economy including energy audits of educational facilities and state owned buildings; and~~
 - ~~(d) Provision for the application of appropriate technologies with regard to alternate energy development, including the development of solar and other renewable resources and small scale hydroelectric plants, and, promotion, when feasible, of the production of energy from other resources such as solid waste and biomass;~~~~
- ~~(29) Enter into agreements, administer grant programs, and serve as liaison with the federal government and other states regarding the programs mandated by subsection (28) of this section; and~~
- ~~(30) Promulgate administrative regulations not inconsistent with the provisions of law administered by the cabinet.~~

Section 43. KRS 224.10-103 is amended to read as follows:

~~{(1)}~~In addition to the powers and duties set out in this and other chapters of the Kentucky Revised Statutes that are vested in the cabinet and the secretary to protect and enhance the state's natural resources and environment, the cabinet and the secretary are also vested with the powers and duties previously vested in the Public Protection and Regulation Cabinet and the Labor Cabinet, and the secretaries of those cabinets, so long as those powers and duties are not contrary to or in conflict with the organization of the cabinet established by statute or by executive order of the Governor, as ratified by the General Assembly.

~~{(2) The Office of Energy Policy shall be transferred to the Commerce Cabinet, Office of the Secretary. All personnel, functions, powers, and duties of the Office of Energy Policy shall be transferred to the Commerce Cabinet.}~~

Section 44. KRS 141.430 is amended to read as follows:

- (1) As used in this section, unless the context requires otherwise:
 - (a) "Approved company" has the same meaning as set forth in KRS 154.48-010;
 - (b) "Project" has the same meaning as set forth in KRS 154.48-010;
 - (c) "Tax credit" means the tax credit allowed in KRS 154.48-025;
 - (d) "Kentucky gross profits" means Kentucky gross profits as defined in KRS 141.0401; and

- (e) "Kentucky gross receipts" means Kentucky gross receipts as defined in KRS 141.0401.
- (2) An approved company shall determine the income tax credit as follows:
- (a)
 1. Compute the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 or the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 on the taxable net income of the corporation or taxable net income of the individual for the first taxable ~~year~~~~period~~ after December 31, 2005, that ends immediately prior to the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1);
 2. Compute the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401, *if applicable*, for the first taxable ~~year~~~~period~~ after December 31, 2005, that ends immediately prior to the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1); and
 3. Add the amounts computed under subparagraphs 1. and 2. of this paragraph and, if applicable, subtract the credit permitted by KRS 141.0401(3) from that sum. The resulting amount shall be the net tax for purposes of this paragraph.
 - (b)
 1. *For each taxable year beginning with the year in which the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1) occurs and ending with the year in which the agreement terminates as referenced in KRS 154.48-025(5), compute the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 or the tax imposed by KRS 141.020 on the taxable net income for the ~~current~~~~first~~ taxable ~~year~~~~period ending after the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1)~~;*
 2. Using the same method used under paragraph (a)2. of this subsection, *for each taxable year beginning with the year in which the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1) occurs and ending with the year in which the agreement terminates as referenced in KRS 154.48-025(5), compute the limited liability entity tax imposed under KRS 141.0401 for the ~~current~~~~first~~ taxable ~~year~~~~period ending after the activation date defined in KRS 154.48-010(1)~~;* and
 3. Add the amounts computed under subparagraphs 1. and 2. of this paragraph and, if applicable, subtract the credit permitted by KRS 141.0401(3) from that sum. The resulting amount shall be the net tax for purposes of this paragraph.
 - (c) The income tax credit shall be the amount that the computation under paragraph (b)3. of this subsection exceeds the amount computed under paragraph (a)3. of this subsection, subject to the limitations provided by KRS 154.48-025.
- (3) An approved company that is a pass-through entity not subject to the tax imposed by KRS 141.040 shall be subject to income tax on the net income attributable to the project at the rates provided in KRS 141.020. The amount of the credit shall be determined as provided in subsection (2) of this section. The credit shall apply to both the tax imposed by KRS 141.0401 and the tax imposed by KRS 141.020, with the ordering of credits as provided in KRS 141.0205. Upon the annual election of the approved company, in lieu of the tax credit, an amount shall be applied as an estimated tax payment equal to the tax computed in this section. Any estimated tax payment made pursuant to this paragraph shall be in satisfaction of the tax liability of the partners, members, or shareholders of the pass-through entity and shall be paid on behalf of the partners, members, shareholders, or beneficiaries.
- (4) The department ~~of Revenue~~ may *promulgate* ~~issue~~ administrative regulations and require the filing of forms designed by the department ~~of Revenue~~ to reflect the intent of the provisions of this section.

SECTION 45. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 20 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

As used in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act:

- (1) *"Alternative fuels" means:*
- (a) *Alternative transportation fuels as defined in Section 38 of this Act;*
 - (b) *Synthetic natural gas as defined in Section 38 of this Act;*
 - (c) *Biodiesel produced from biomass resources as defined in Section 38 of this Act that is used for purposes other than transportation fuel;*
 - (d) *Ethanol as defined in Section 20 of this Act;*
 - (e) *Cellulosic ethanol as defined in Section 20 of this Act; and*

- (f) *Any other fuel that is produced from a renewable or sustainable source;*
- (2) *"Eligible company" means any corporation, limited liability company, partnership, limited partnership, sole proprietorship, business trust, person, group, or other entity engaged in research and development and commercialization related to, or the production of, alternative fuels or renewable energy;*
- (3) *"Kentucky-based" means a business with its principal place of business in Kentucky or at least fifty-one percent (51%) of its property and payroll located in Kentucky;*
- (4) *"Qualified company" means an eligible company that may be granted funding pending final approval;*
- (5) *"Renewable energy" means electricity produced by hydropower, solar power, landfill methane gas, wind power, geothermal, biomass, or other renewable sources; and*
- (6) *"Science and technology organization" means an independent, nonprofit quasi-governmental organization with a statewide mission and demonstrated history of managing complicated programs in the areas of entrepreneurial innovation, research and development, and science and technology advancement.*

SECTION 46. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 20 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *The cabinet shall have all the powers and authority, not explicitly prohibited by statute, necessary and convenient to carry out and effectuate the purposes of Sections 45 to 49 of this Act, including but not limited to:*
- (a) *Entering into contracts or agreements necessary or incidental to the performance of its duties, functions, and responsibilities; and*
- (b) *Soliciting, borrowing, accepting, receiving, and expending funds from any public or private source, including but not limited to appropriations of the Commonwealth, grants, or contributions of money, property, labor, or other things of value to be used to carry out the program's operations, functions, and responsibilities.*
- (2) *The cabinet may expend money in the fund created in Section 47 of this Act for reasonable administrative expenses directly incurred in carrying out the requirements of Sections 45 to 49 of this Act. It is the intent of the General Assembly that the fund created in Section 47 of this Act be used, to the fullest extent possible, to directly fund project costs. It is also the intent of the General Assembly that revenues available that are generated through investments of the fund be redeposited in the fund and that those amounts shall be considered in establishing appropriations.*
- (3) *The cabinet shall contract with a science and technology organization to administer the program created in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act. The cabinet shall approve the application criteria, the process for submission of an application, and the structure and type of outside expertise or peer review used in the application review process in the program created in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act.*
- (4) *No member of the cabinet or the science and technology organization or other administering entity, or their employees or outside experts or their immediate family members, shall directly or indirectly financially benefit in any award, contract, or agreement under the program.*
- (5) *The cabinet and the science and technology organization shall submit a joint annual report prior to October 15 to the Governor and the General Assembly detailing its work related to the program created in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act. The annual report shall include but not be limited to reporting on the progress made in achieving the program's purposes, qualitative and quantitative information concerning the applications received, projects approved and undertaken, companies served, funding amounts invested in each project, and findings and recommendations to increase the program's effectiveness in achieving its purposes.*
- (6) *All records related to the administration of the program created in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act shall be deemed property of the cabinet and shall be open records and subject to public inspection under KRS 61.870 to 61.884. Any research or information that involves or is a patent, trade secret, or other legally protectable interest shall be exempt from inspection until the intellectual property rights have been fully protected.*

SECTION 47. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 20 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

There is created in the State Treasury the "Kentucky alternative fuel and renewable energy fund" for the purpose of enabling Kentucky-based companies to undertake research and development and commercialization in the area of alternative fuel or renewable energy. The fund may receive state appropriations, gifts, grants, federal funds, revolving funds, and any other funds both public and private. Moneys deposited in the fund shall be disbursed by the State Treasurer upon the warrant of the secretary of the Finance and Administration Cabinet. Any unallocated or unencumbered balances in the fund shall be invested as provided in KRS 42.500(9). Any income earned from the investments along with the unallotted or unencumbered balances in the fund shall not lapse, and shall be deemed a trust and agency account and made available solely for the purposes and benefits of the Kentucky Alternative Fuel and Renewable Energy Fund Program.

SECTION 48. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 20 OF KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *There is created in the cabinet a Kentucky Alternative Fuel and Renewable Energy Fund Program to provide funding to Kentucky-based companies to undertake research and development and commercialization work in the area of alternative fuels and renewable energy.*
- (2) *The purpose of the Kentucky Alternative Fuel and Renewable Energy Fund Program is to:*
 - (a) *Accelerate knowledge transfer and technological innovation, improve economic competitiveness, and spur economic growth of Kentucky-based companies involved in the areas of alternative fuels or renewable energy;*
 - (b) *Support research and development activities that have clear potential to lead to commercially successful products, processes, or services in the areas of alternative fuels or renewable energy within a reasonable period of time;*
 - (c) *Stimulate growth-oriented alternative fuel and renewable energy enterprises within the Commonwealth;*
 - (d) *Encourage partnerships and collaborative projects between private enterprises, Kentucky's universities, and research organizations in alternative fuels and renewable energy; and*
 - (e) *Promote research and development and commercialization activities in alternative fuels and renewable energy that are market-oriented.*

SECTION 49. A NEW SECTION OF SUBCHAPTER 20 KRS CHAPTER 154 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *The science and technology organization shall have the authority to review applications, qualify companies, and certify qualified companies.*
- (2) *The science and technology organization shall develop application criteria and an application process.*
- (3) *The science and technology organization shall focus on providing support to research and development projects that are likely to:*
 - (a) *Produce a measurable result and be technically sound;*
 - (b) *Lead to innovative technology or new knowledge;*
 - (c) *Lead to commercially successful products, processes, or services within a reasonable period of time;*
or
 - (d) *Show significant potential for stimulating innovation-driven economic growth and a reasonable probability to enhance employment opportunities within the Commonwealth.*
- (4) *An eligible company may submit to the science and technology organization an application for funding. The application shall include but not be limited to the following information:*
 - (a) *Verification that the applicant is an eligible company that is Kentucky-based;*
 - (b) *A technical research and commercialization plan that is sufficient for outside expert review;*
 - (c) *A detailed financial analysis that includes the commitment of resources by the applicant and others;*
 - (d) *Sufficient detail concerning proposed project partners, type and amount of work to be performed by each partner, and expected product or service with estimated costs to be reflected in the negotiated contract or agreement;*

- (e) *A statement of the economic development potential of the project; and*
- (f) *Any other information the science and technology organization may require.*
- (5) *The science and technology organization shall conduct an independent review using internal and external resources to evaluate each application. Following the application review, the science and technology organization shall make a written determination of whether the applicant is a qualified company as defined in Section 45 of this Act.*
- (6) *Before a qualified company is approved for funding, the qualified company shall negotiate an agreement and funding contract that is satisfactory to the science and technology organization with any project partners to undertake the research and development work.*
- (7) *Upon a qualified company's presentation of a legal agreement or contract meeting the conditions under subsection (6) of this section, the science and technology organization shall negotiate the terms for funding with the qualified company and shall enter into a contract with the qualified company if an agreement is reached.*
- (8) *Any agreement shall include a provision that a qualified company shall, at a minimum, match the funding provided through the science and technology organization on a one-to-one dollar ratio for each year of the project. The science and technology organization shall have sole discretion to authorize an in-kind contribution in lieu of part of the match required for the qualified company, if the science and technology organization determines that the financial limitations of the qualified company warrant this authorization.*
- (9) *The science and technology organization may negotiate with the qualified company the ownership and disposition of patents, royalties, all other intellectual property rights, and an equity or related position on behalf of the Kentucky alternative fuel and renewable energy fund for the sole purpose of reinvesting and sustaining a revolving fund to carry out the provisions of Sections 45 to 49 of this Act.*
- (10) *The science and technology organization, upon approval by the cabinet, shall issue guidelines for statewide notification of the program's availability and a program schedule, including but not limited to an application review cycle including:*
 - (a) *A deadline for submission of applications, which shall be at least biennially; and*
 - (b) *A deadline for completing the review of applications, which shall not exceed five (5) months after the application submission deadline.*

Section 50. The Public Service Commission shall examine existing statutes relating to its authority over public utilities, and shall, on or before July 1, 2008, make recommendations to the Legislative Research Commission regarding the following issues:

- (1) Eliminating impediments to the consideration and adoption by utilities of cost-effective demand-management strategies for addressing future demand prior to Commission consideration of any proposal for increasing generating capacity;
- (2) Encouraging diversification of utility energy portfolios through the use of renewables, and distributed generation;
- (3) Incorporating full-cost accounting that considers and requires comparison of life-cycle energy, economic, public health, and environmental costs of various strategies for meeting future energy demand; and
- (4) Modifying rate structures and cost recovery to better align the financial interests of the utility with the goals of achieving energy efficiency and lowest life-cycle energy costs to all classes of ratepayers.

Section 51. The Legislative Research Commission shall designate legislative staff to study energy-efficient building and construction practices.

- (1) The study shall review current building practices that promote energy efficiency and the current structure of tax incentives relative to energy efficiency in construction and building operating systems, including:
 - (a) Methods currently employed to increase energy efficiency in building design and construction;
 - (b) Energy-efficient methods currently available to decrease the amount of energy used by the operating systems of buildings;

- (c) Identification of currently known methods of improving energy efficiency that may become commercially viable in the future; and
 - (d) Identification of incentives to encourage improvements in energy-efficient building methods and the use of energy-saving building components and operating systems that are currently in use or are proposed, including:
 - 1. Current and proposed federal incentives;
 - 2. Current and proposed incentives offered in other states;
 - 3. Current and proposed incentives offered by local governments of this and other states; and
 - 4. Recommendations regarding state building, plumbing, electrical, and other construction-related codes and efficiency certification programs, that could increase efficiency in building design, construction, and operating systems.
- (2) The study shall be completed by November 1, 2008, with a written report presented to the Interim Joint Committee on Appropriations and Revenue and the Special Subcommittee on Energy by December 1, 2008.
 - (3) Provisions of this section to the contrary notwithstanding, the Legislative Research Commission shall have the authority to alternatively assign the issues identified herein to an interim joint committee or subcommittee thereof, and to designate a study completion date.

Section 52. The General Assembly recognizes the importance of proactively addressing the issue of carbon management in existing coal-fired power plants, and carbon emissions in general. Therefore, the General Assembly directs the Governor's Office of Energy Policy, the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research, the Geological Survey at the University of Kentucky, the Public Service Commission, and the Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet to collaboratively produce a report and recommendations to be presented to the Legislative Research Commission on or before November 30, 2007. The report shall address the following:

- (1) The current status of research and technology to manage carbon dioxide in existing coal-fired power plants;
- (2) Existing sources of support for research related to managing carbon dioxide in existing coal-fired power plant and the adequacy of such sources;
- (3) The estimated capital and energy costs associated with installing the technology or upgrading existing coal-fired power plants to better manage carbon;
- (4) Identification of specific potential research projects and demonstration projects to enhance the development and deployment of new technology in this area; and
- (5) Identification of the types of incentives or other government assistance that would be helpful in supporting the development and implementation of new technologies to reduce carbon emissions at existing coal-fired power plants, including strategies for isolation, capture, and management of carbon dioxide.

In addition, the report shall address the following with regard to carbon dioxide emissions:

- (1) The current status of research and technology in the capture and sequestration of carbon dioxide;
- (2) Identification of marketing opportunities and uses for carbon dioxide as a value-added commodity, the maturity and long-term feasibility of those markets, the potential for carbon utilization relative to the anticipated generation of carbon, and the economic and environmental risks associated with these uses of carbon dioxide;
- (3) Identification of other uses for carbon dioxide and the feasibility of large-scale implementation of such uses;
- (4) Identification of feasible methods for capturing and transporting carbon dioxide from the generation point to end users, including the construction of carbon dioxide pipelines, rail transportation, or other means, and the positives and negatives for each method;
- (5) Identification of any issues or concerns relating to carbon dioxide that are unique to Kentucky;
- (6) Assessment of long-term risks and uncertainties associated with carbon-management options;
- (7) Identification of existing collaborative efforts and partnerships developed to address carbon dioxide issues that Kentucky participates in; and

- (8) Identification of the types of incentives or other government assistance necessary to support the development and implementation of new technologies to capture and sequester carbon.

The Governor's Office of Energy Policy, the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research, the Geological Survey at the University of Kentucky, the Public Service Commission, and the Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet are encouraged to consult and collaborate with stakeholders, including industry partners, research institutes, and other universities to develop the report and recommendations.

SECTION 53. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 164A IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *It is the intent of the General Assembly to establish a student loan forgiveness program for individuals who receive a bachelor's degree or graduate degree from a Kentucky college or university after the effective date of this Act and who are employed in an energy-related field as engineers, engineering technologists, chemists, geologists, or hydrologists in Kentucky. The loan forgiveness program shall be funded by the Commonwealth of Kentucky using state appropriations and shall be administered by the Kentucky Higher Education Student Loan Corporation. All costs associated with the program shall be paid for by the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including the reimbursement of any expenses incurred by the corporation in its administration of the program.*
- (2) *To the extent funds are available, the corporation shall provide eligible individuals forgiveness of loans within the Federal Family Education Loan Program held by the corporation up to a maximum of:*
- (a) *Twenty percent (20%) of the loan balance principal; and*
- (b) *Accrued interest;*
- for each year of qualified employment in Kentucky after the effective date of this Act in an eligible occupation as set forth in subsection (4) of this section.*
- (3) *An individual shall be eligible for the loan forgiveness if he or she:*
- (a) *Is a Kentucky resident, as determined by the corporation using the criteria established by the Council on Postsecondary Education for the purposes of postsecondary admission and tuition assessment;*
- (b) *Is a citizen of the United States;*
- (c) *Received a bachelor's degree or graduate degree after the effective date of this Act from a postsecondary education institution in Kentucky that is accredited by a regional or national accrediting association; and*
- (d) *Is employed full-time in Kentucky in an eligible occupation as set forth in subsection (4) of this section.*
- (4) *Qualified employment in an eligible occupation shall be employment in an energy-related field as an engineer, including environmental engineer; engineering technologist, including environmental engineering technologist; chemist; geologist; or hydrologist. The corporation shall establish the specific eligible occupational titles within the eligible occupations set forth in this subsection through the promulgation of administrative regulations using the Standard Occupational Classification System of the Bureau of Labor Statistics within the U.S. Department of Labor. The corporation shall consult with the Council on Postsecondary Education in determining eligible occupational titles.*
- (5) *The corporation shall promulgate administrative regulations in accordance with KRS Chapter 13A as may be needed for the administration of the loan forgiveness program.*

SECTION 54. A NEW SECTION OF KRS CHAPTER 158 IS CREATED TO READ AS FOLLOWS:

- (1) *Subject to the availability of funds, the Kentucky Department of Education shall establish an energy technology career track program. The purpose of the program is to provide grants to school districts to develop and implement an energy technology engineering career track across middle and high schools within the district. Program components may include but not be limited to career exploration and counseling, strategies to increase the rigor of instruction in pertinent core content areas, strategies to link core content to an energy technology career focus, professional development for teachers, and cooperative learning opportunities with industry and postsecondary institutions.*
- (2) *The Kentucky Board of Education shall promulgate administrative regulations for the administration of the energy technology career track program. The Kentucky Department of Education shall administer the program, approve grant recipients, and distribute the funds to local school districts.*

Section 55. (1) It is the intent of the General Assembly to establish a collaborative to develop a plan for the creation of a Center for Renewable Energy Research and Environmental Stewardship. The mission of the center shall be to provide leadership, research, support, and policy development in renewable energy, to advance the goal of sustainable energy and to promote technologies, practices, and programs that increase efficiency in energy utilization in homes, businesses, and public buildings. The planning collaborative shall consist of the state universities, the Kentucky Community and Technical College System, the Governor's Office of Energy Policy, and any other stakeholders, including other colleges and universities, energy producers, business groups, energy conservation organizations, and consumers identified by the Advisory Conference of Presidents established by KRS 164.021 as part of the plan required by subsection (2) of this section.

- (2) The Advisory Conference of Presidents shall develop a proposed plan for the establishment of a Center for Renewable Energy Research and Environmental Stewardship.
- (3) In developing the plan, the Conference of Presidents shall:
 - (a) Collaborate with the entities listed in subsection (1) of this section and any other identified stakeholders to solicit input and recommendations; and
 - (b) In developing proposed strategies for the center, consider the recommendations of the Governor's Comprehensive Energy Strategy; "Kentucky Energy - Opportunities for our Future" relating to renewable energy and energy efficiency; and the Final Report and Recommendations of the Environmental and Public Protection Cabinet Task Force on Energy Efficiency.
- (4) The proposed plan shall be submitted to the Legislative Research Commission on or before November 30, 2007.
- (5) The plan shall include the following components:
 - (a) A description of the proposed structure for the operation of a Center for Renewable Energy Research and Environmental Stewardship, including leadership, oversight, and governance;
 - (b) Proposed strategies to achieve the purposes of the center;
 - (c) A list of collaborative partners and a description of the role to be played by each of the collaborative partners; and
 - (d) Recommended funding necessary to implement the proposed plan.

Section 56. The following KRS sections are repealed:

- 152.750 Policy of Commonwealth -- Implementation.
- 152.755 Contracts for development or demonstration projects.
- 152.760 Revenue bonds.
- 152.762 Bonds, how to be secured.
- 152.765 Deposit of proceeds from contracts.
- 152.770 Limitation of Commonwealth's liability and claims.
- 152.775 Termination of Commonwealth participation -- Repayment.
- 152.780 Administrative staff.
- 152.785 Energy development and demonstration trust fund -- Indemnity account.

Section 57. There is hereby appropriated \$5,000,000 in fiscal year 2007-2008 from the General Fund to the Governor's Office of Energy Policy for the purpose of entering into a memorandum of agreement with the Kentucky Geological Survey at the University of Kentucky to conduct research, either itself or in collaboration or under contract with other entities, to quantify the potential for enhanced oil and gas recovery and enhanced coalbed methane recovery using carbon dioxide. The research shall include the drilling of deep wells in both coal fields (Illinois and Appalachian) in Kentucky, and performing the analysis necessary to estimate the potential for enhanced oil and gas recovery, enhanced coalbed methane recovery, or permanent storage of sequestration of carbon dioxide. At least one of the wells will test the Devonian shale for enhanced gas recovery and sequestration potential. The Kentucky Geological Survey is encouraged to use these funds to match available federal and private funds to the extent

possible. The Governor's Office of Energy Policy shall report to the Legislative Research Commission by December 1, 2007, regarding the status of the research project with this appropriation.

Section 58. There is hereby appropriated \$2,000,000 in fiscal year 2007-2008 from the General Fund to the University of Kentucky to develop the fundamental knowledge, applied science, and engineering necessary to allow industry to rapidly incorporate alternative fuel production technologies into plant design and construction. These funds shall be used by the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research to:

- (1) Upgrade the existing Fischer-Tropsch facility to allow use of modular reactor and downstream processing systems;
- (2) Install biomass gasification and gas cleaning capabilities to study the utilization of biomass in the production of Fischer-Tropsch fuels;
- (3) Develop a biofuels laboratory for production, characterization, and testing of biomass derived fuels, with a focus on biodiesel, bio-oils, and biomass derived Fischer-Tropsch liquids; and
- (4) Expand programs for the capture and utilization of carbon dioxide from coal or biomass electric power generation or Fischer-Tropsch fuel facilities.

The University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research is encouraged to use these funds to match available federal and private funds to the extent possible. It is the intention of the General Assembly to provide a base amount of funding for the University of Kentucky Center for Applied Energy Research in the minimum amount of \$2,000,000 in subsequent fiscal years so that the Center may expand its research capabilities.

Section 59. There is hereby appropriated \$300,000 in fiscal year 2007-2008 from the General Fund to the Kentucky Department of Education to support the energy technology career track program established by Section 54 of this Act.

Section 60. There is hereby appropriated \$100,000,000 in bond funds for fiscal year 2007-2008 to the Cabinet for Economic Development, Department of Financial Incentives, Energy Projects Economic Development Bond Pool. The bond proceeds are to be used by the Kentucky Economic Development Finance Authority for advance disbursement incentives authorized in Section 9 of this Act. Bond proceeds of up to \$10,000,000 of this authorization may be used for an advanced manufacturing economic development project that invests \$500,000,000 or more in the Commonwealth and produces a renewable energy source product. Bond proceeds of up to \$5,000,000 of this authorization may be deposited in the Kentucky Alternative Fuel and Renewable Energy Fund created in Section 47 of this Act and shall be used by the science and technology organization to provide funding for Kentucky-based companies to undertake research and development and commercialization in the area of alternative fuel or renewable energy as provided in Sections 45 to 49 of this Act.

There is hereby appropriated \$5,319,500 from the General Fund for fiscal year 2007-2008 to the Cabinet for Economic Development, Department of Financial Incentives, for half-year debt service to support the bond authorization as set forth above.

Section 61. Whereas it is crucial that the Commonwealth be competitive in offering incentives to encourage the development of new energy resources, and whereas decisions are being made at the present time that could impact the Commonwealth's ability to achieve this goal, an emergency is declared to exist, and this Act takes effect upon its passage and approval by the Governor or upon its otherwise becoming a law.

Approved August 30, 2007